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BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member
A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held ON FRIDAY,
29TH JULY, 2022 AT 1.00 PM when your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Catherine Mealing-Jones

Chief Executive
PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/

Fire Evacuation Advice
In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,
and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1

CORRESPONDENCE F_PR
To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any
recommendations thereon (below).

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST F_PR
To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the
agenda. Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing,
specifying the nature of the interest.
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If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be
recorded in the minutes.
3

PUBLIC SPEAKING F_PR
To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

4

CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS F_PR
To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chair since
the last meeting of the Authority.

5

ACCESS TO INFORMATION F_PR
RECOMMENDATION: To exclude the press and public from the
meeting during consideration of item 6 in accordance with section
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information
as defined in paragraphs 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local
Government Act 1972.

6

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS F_PR
To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.

7

APPOINTMENT OF MONITORING OFFICER F_PR

8

APPOINTMENT OF SECTION 151 OFFICER F_PR

9

DRAFT ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2021/22 F_PR

10

AUDIT WALES: SUSTAINABLE TOURISM REPORT F_PR

11

AUDIT WALES: AUDIT PLAN F_PR

12

AUDIT WALES: THE ROLE OF AUDIT F_PR
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13

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP F_PR

14

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY: AUDIT
WALES ACTION PLAN F_PR

15

PRESIDING MEMBER NOMINATION F_PR

16

NEW COMMITTEE DATES 2022 F_PR

17

GIFTS & HOSPITALITY F_PR

18

ANY OTHER BUSINESS F_PR
Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.
SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1.

To receive apologies for absence

2.

Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Democratic Services
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Agenda Item 7
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

20 July 2022

By

Chief Executive

Title of

Appointment of Monitoring Officer and Data Protection

Report

Officer

Item 7

For Decision

Recommended decision: The appointment of Mr Marc Ronan as the Authority’s
Monitoring Officer and Data Protection Officer with immediate effect.
1.

Introduction
1.1. Both the Monitoring Officer (MO) and Data Protection officer positions are
statutory posts, meaning the appointment must be confirmed by the full
Authority.
1.2. Between April 2019 and July 2021 MO services were provided through a 13
-hour per week, fixed term contract by Mr O’Connor. The MO advised the
former CEO that 13 hours a week was insufficient to discharge the
responsibilities of the post. Whilst a 12-month extension to the MO’s
contract, and an increase to 18.5 hours / week was agreed by the Authority
in February 21, the temporary nature and hours offered were not sufficient to
address the duties of the MO. The Authority subsequently approved the
appointment of a 12-month fixed term MO role which has since been
extended to March 31, 2023.
1.3. Following a selection process Mr Ronan was appointed MO and DPO and
has continued in post since his appointment in July 2021. Mr Ronan is also
the Authority’s Solicitor (General Counsel) appointed by the Chief Executive
under the Scheme of Delegation.
1.4. After consultation with the Chair and Deputy Chair it is proposed to appoint
Mr Ronan as the MO and DPO to the Brecon Beacons National Park
Authority as a permanent appointment with immediate effect. Mr Ronan is an
experienced specialist Local Authority Solicitor, MO and DPO with over 15
years’ experience in Local Government and the role sits well alongside the
workload as the Authority’s solicitor.
1.5. The appointment of a Deputy MO (DMO) is at the discretion, and a personal
appointment, of the MO. It is Mr Ronan’s intention, if appointed as the MO, to
continue with the appointment of Mr Sean O’Connor as DMO. Mr O’Connor
is Wokingham Borough Council’s Head of Legal Service and has experience
of the MO role.
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2.

Role of the Monitoring Officer
2.1. The requirement to appoint a Monitoring Officer, and the functions of the
Monitoring Officer, are set out in section 5 of the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989 (LGHA 1989), as amended by schedule 5, paragraph 24
of the Local Government Act 2000.
2.2. The Authority is required to designate one of its officers as a ‘monitoring
officer’ and ‘to provide that officer with such staff, accommodation and other
resources as are, in their opinion, sufficient to allow those duties to be
performed’.
2.3. The Monitoring Officer may be the Head of an Authority’s Paid Service but
cannot be its Chief Finance Officer.
2.4. The duties of the Monitoring Officer include:


Reporting to the Authority in any case where the Monitoring Officer is of
the opinion that any proposal or decision of the Authority has or is likely to
give rise to any illegality or maladministration.



Responsibility for matters relating to the conduct of members and officers,
including investigations into allegations about the conduct of members;
and



Responsibility for the operation of the Authority’s Constitution.

2.5. The first two duties are specific statutory requirements: the remainder flow
from them.
3.

4.
5.

Role of the Data Protection Officer


The DPO is involved in all issues which relate to the protection of personal
data.



The duties of the DPO are to inform and advise the Authority of its
obligations, to monitor compliance, provide training and awareness training
of the Authorities obligations.



The DPO acts as the contact point with the regulator and has regard to risks
associated with processing personal data.

Financial implications
4.1. Salary costs will be funded from within the existing approved staffing budget.
Legal and Governance Considerations
5.1. Section 5(1)(a) of the Local Government & Housing Act 1989 states that: “It
shall be the duty of every relevant authority to - designate one of their
officers (to be known as “the monitoring officer”) as the officer responsible for
the duties imposed by this section”
5.2. Section 4 of the General Data Protection Regulation requires the Authority to
identify a senior officer responsible to take on the role of Data Protection
Officer
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5.3. These appointments may only be exercised by the full Authority. The
Scheme of Delegation states at Section A2.2(5) the powers of the Authority
include:
“To appoint the Chief Executive, Directors, Monitoring Officer, Section 151
Officer and Data Protection Officer in accordance with the relevant legislation”
6.

Risk and Policy Considerations
6.1. The appointment of a Monitoring Officer and Data protection Officer are
statutory requirements.
6.2. The appointment will enable the Authority to retain an experienced staff
member who has the confidence of staff, the Executive Board the Deputy
Chair and Chair of the Authority.
6.3. The separation of the role from the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service
also enables there to be a degree of independence of perspective. Mr
Ronan is a member of the Authority’s Executive Board.
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Agenda Item 8
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

20 July 2022

By

Chief Executive

Title of

Appointment of S151 Officer

Report
Item 8

For Decision

Recommended decision: The appointment of Mrs Josephine Williams as the
Authority’s S151 Officer with immediate effect.
1.

Introduction
1.1. The Authority must make arrangements for the proper administration of its
financial affairs and should therefore ensure that one of their officers has
responsibility for the administration of those affairs, under s151 of the Local
Government Act 1972
1.2. Following the previous S151 Officer’s retirement, an interim Finance
Manager was appointed with the S151 Officer of Pembrokeshire National
Park Authority acting as the Authority’s S151 Officer under a standing
arrangement.
1.3. Following a recruitment exercise Mrs Williams has now been appointed as
permanent Finance Manager. Mrs Williams became an ACCA member in
1991 and joined the local government sector the following year as a Group
Accountant with Rhymney Valley D.C., followed by a similar role in Rhondda
Cynon Taf CBC after Local Government Re-organisation in Wales. She has
held other senior local government finance roles mainly in South Wales, with
over ten years’ experience in total in the sector.
1.4. Her other experience includes senior roles with the Welsh Development
Agency and Department for Transport Shared Services, followed by a
Finance and Resources Director position in social housing. Most recently
she has been engaged with Cardiff Business School in the delivery of
accounting and finance degree courses.
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2.

Role of section 151 officer
2.1. The rules governing the authority’s financial administration are set out in the
Authority’s Standing Orders, Contracts Procedure Rules, and Financial
Regulations. These require, amongst other things, that the s151 Officer be
responsible for many of the Authority’s obligations. The S151 officer is
responsible to the Authority for keeping the principal accounting records of
the Authority, supervising, and controlling all accounting systems and
records. The S151 Officer shall ensure that, in so far as is practicable, the
Authority’s accounting records and statements comply with professional and
statutory requirements and codes of practice

3.

There are also other statutory requirements for the s151 Officer under:


s113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988; the s151 officer must be a
member of one of several specified accountancy bodies. Mrs Williams is a
full member of one of these specified bodies, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (ACCA).



s114 of the 1988 Act in that the s151 Officer must make a public report in
specified cases of actual or anticipated financial misconduct.



s2(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the effect of which is
to make the s151 Officer a statutory Chief officer and, therefore, a politically
restricted post.



s5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 whereby the post of
Monitoring Officer cannot also be held by the s151 Officer.

4.

Mrs Williams commenced her role with the Authority on 15 June 2022. Mrs
Williams’ appointment as the s151 Officer, if approved, will be added to the list
of Chief Officer functions and responsibilities, set out in the Authority’s Standing
Orders, Scheme of Delegations, Contract Procedure Rules, Financial
Regulations, and other regulatory documents.

5.

Financial implications
5.1. Salary costs will be funded from within the existing approved staffing budget.

6.

Legal and Governance Considerations
6.1. These are set out in paragraph 1, 3 and 5 of the report.

7.

Risk and Policy Considerations
7.1. The appointment of a S151 officer is a statutory requirement
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Agenda Item 9
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

20 July 2022

By

S151 Officer

Title of

Draft Statement of Accounts 2021/22

Report
Item 9

For Information

Recommended decision: That Members note the contents of the attached Draft
Statement
1.

Introduction
1.1. The 2021/2 draft Statement of Accounts, produced in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, as interpreted by CIPFA, and
the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations, will be published on the
Authority’s website on August 8th.
1.2. The statutory deadline for accounts approval would normally be 31 July 2021
but in recognition of the impact of Covid19, this has been deferred until the
autumn, to allow authorities and Audit Wales additional time to complete the
accounts and audit process.
1.3. The unsigned draft is presented here to the Committee to provide the
earliest opportunity to consider the document. Audit Wales are intending to
carry out the accounts audit in September. The audited statement will
require approval by the authority in the autumn at a date to be confirmed on
conclusion of the audit and then published in its final version.
1.4. CIPFA Accounting Standards - impact on the presentation of the Authority’s
draft income and expenditure and balance sheet.
1.5. The Accounting Standards are applied across all private and public sector
bodies with the aim of increasing the comparability and consistency of
accounts internationally and between sectors. The body which sets the
standards for local authority accounting in the UK (The Chartered Institute of
Public Finance and Accountancy, CIPFA) effectively prescribes the format in
which authorities must produce the accounts and, although National Park
Authorities are much smaller bodies, they are required to follow the same
format and timetable for production and audit.
1.6. In some instances, the Regulations require a different accounting treatment
from that specified in the Standards and, where this is the case, adjustments
have been made and explained in the Statement as required by CIPFA.

2.

Statement of Accounts Approval Process
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2.1. The draft Statement of Accounts will be signed by the Chief Financial Officer
(Section 151 Officer) for website publication by August 8th and a copy will be
sent to Audit Wales. Members of the public are entitled to examine the
accounts and supporting information on request and discuss any aspect of
the Statement with the Auditor.
2.2. Audit Wales will undertake the audit in September and October. The
Statement, revised as necessary, will be approved by the Auditor General for
Wales by 30/11/22 and the audited Statement will be presented to the
Authority for approval. The response of the Chief Executive and Chair of
Audit and Risk Committee to the letter from Wales Audit ‘Audit enquiries to
those charged with governance and management’ will also be presented.
3.

Main Content of the Statement
3.1. The contents of the Statement of Accounts is listed on page 2 of the
document. The Annual Governance Statement is currently not included.

4.

The Narrative Report
4.1. This part of the Statement gives an overview of year, the authority’s financial
context, significant developments and their impact. The Income and
Expenditure section (p 4-7) provides a summary comparison with last year
and an explanation of the main variances from budget.

5.

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIEs)
5.1. This statement is supported by Note 1 (p 26), a reconciliation of the funding
and accounting bases applied and by Notes 6, 7 and 8 (p 31). The statement
shows restated amounts for the 2020/21 comparatives to align with the
restructured services implemented in 2021/22.Note 10 (p.32) gives a
subjective analysis (employee and other operating costs) of the CIES
content.

6.

The Balance Sheet (B/S)
6.1. Notes 14 -17 (p42-46) set out the movement in long term assets for both
years, the valuation basis for land and property assets and an analysis of the
sources of funding for 2021/22 additions. Note 29 starting on p.52 provides
extensive information on the pension costs and liability included in the CIES
and the B/S respectively. It reflects the actuary’s report for the year and
explains the reasons for the significant change in the authority’s obligation as
shown in the accounts.
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7.

The Statement of Movements in Reserves (MIRS)
7.1. This statement gives an analysis of the movements in the B/S reserves
figures for both years. It distinguishes between usable reserves which
represent cash funds held by the Authority and unusable reserves, which are
created for accounting purposes only. Notes 12 and 13 (p. 36-41) provide
more detailed information on Earmarked Reserves, their purpose and
source; and on Unusable Reserves.

8.

The Cash Flow Statement (CFS)
8.1. Note 21 (p.47-48) supports this statement.

9.

Conclusion
9.1. The Statement of Accounts is one of the ways in which the Authority
demonstrates good financial management and provides accountability for
the way in which it has used the public funds entrusted to it. The audit
process is designed to ensure that the public can have confidence in the
quality of the Statement of Accounts and to minimize the risk that the
financial position of the Authority has been materially mis-stated.
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Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022

SUBJECT TO AUDIT

NARRATIVE REPORT
1.

INTRODUCTION
The Statement of Accounts is a publication required by law that gives stakeholders, local funders, and
members of the Authority clear information about the financial performance and position of Brecon
Beacons National Park Authority.
The Statement of Accounts is produced to inform about the financial performance and standing of the
Authority. This Narrative Report gives a summary of the Statement of Accounts. It contains key financial
information including a summarised revenue account, in addition to supporting information, to set out the
cost of services and how costs were are funded.
The Authority is required by law to produce an annual Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper
accounting practices as laid down by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
in its Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2021-22 (the Code). It is also required to comply
with the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 (as amended) and 2018.
This Narrative provides a brief explanation of the more significant matters reported in the accounts.
Accounting statements are set out on later pages and consist of: A Statement of Accounting Policies - the basis upon which amounts have been included in the
accounts using accepted accounting principles.
The Core Financial Statements
 The Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)- the income and
expenditure during the financial year, accompanied by notes which explain the figures further.
The Code requires that this statement is structured is in line with the service breakdown of
income and expenditure reported by the Authority. The CIES therefore reports an analysis
of expenditure and income by Directorate.
 The Statement of Movements in Reserves – shows the movement in year on reserves
held by the Authority, analysed into ‘usable’ reserves and ‘unusable’ reserves. The statement
shows the true economic cost of providing the authority’s services and how those costs are
funded from the various reserves held.
 The Balance Sheet - the assets and liabilities, cash held, and amounts set aside in reserves
at the financial year-end. Notes are provided to give further details of specific balances.
 The Cash Flow Statement - shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the
Authority during the reporting period. Further explanation is provided in the notes to the
statement.
The responsible finance officer signed the statement of accounts (subject to audit) on XXXX.
Significant events after the Balance Sheet date and up to the date of approval have been considered
in preparing the Statement. The Statement has been audited by the Auditor General for Wales and a
copy of his report is published with the Statement when this becomes available on completion of the
audit. The Authority is also required to publish a Governance Statement. For further information
and explanation of items in this document, please contact the Authority’s Finance Manager
jo.williams@beacons-npa.gov.uk
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Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022

SUBJECT TO AUDIT

2.

ABOUT BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY
The Authority covers 520 square miles and is one of three National Parks in Wales. The Authority
became an independent Special Purpose Local Authority with effect from 1st April 1996 and has two
statutory purposes and one duty:
Purposes:
 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National
Park.


To promote opportunities for public enjoyment and understanding of the special qualities of
the National Park.

Duty:
 To foster the economic and social well-being of communities living within the National Park.
The Authority is the statutory Local Planning Authority for the area and is responsible for preparation
of the Local Development Plan and determining planning applications.
Each year the Authority is required to publish a Corporate Plan setting out how it intends to employ
its resources for the coming year to fulfil the purposes and duty in line with its current National Park
Management Plan 2015-2020. A review of the Authority’s performance against the Corporate Plan
is carried out annually. These documents are published on the Authority’s website www.beaconsnpa.gov.uk
3.

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
The gross cost to the Authority of providing its services, as reported to Members during the year for
management purposes was £6,012,000. The table below summarises expenditure and sources of
funding and shows that £8,000 was transferred to General Reserves at the year-end. In addition,
£145,000 net was transferred to Earmarked Reserves and carried forward in the General Reserve to
fund future commitments.
The Welsh Government sets the Authority’s approved level of net revenue expenditure for the year
and pays 75% of this in National Park Grant. The remaining 25% can then be raised by the Authority
by issuing a levy on the constituent Unitary Authorities. These are: Powys County Council,
Carmarthenshire County Council, Monmouthshire County Council, Rhondda Cynon Taff County
Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council,
and Torfaen County Borough Council. The Welsh Government provides specific revenue and capital
funding for priority project delivery. Where this cannot be fully applied in the year in which it is
received, it is held in an earmarked reserve and applied in future years.
Comparison of actual income and expenditure: Current and previous financial years
2020/21
£000
National Park Grant
National Park Levy
Government Grants and Contributions
Fees, Charges and other Service income
Interest Receivable
Gross Revenue Funding
Employee Expenses

2021/22
£000

2,827
941
1,066
758
7
5,599

3,179
1,036
17
991
12
952
14
07
6,165
100

17
12
14
0
100

3,566

3,711
66

66
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Other Service Expenses
Total Expenditure
Transfers to/from Reserves
Total Expenditure after net transfers
to/from Reserves
Net (cost)/income of Services
(Contribn to/from General Fund)

1,808
5,374
143
5,517
82

2,301
34
6,012
100
0
145
6,157
8

34
100
0

Locally generated income and specific grants are allocated to individual services and are offset against
the expenditure on those headings to arrive at the total net budgets and costs as reported to those
responsible for management of the Authority. The table below shows how the net cost of services
is derived from gross income and expenditure (see Note 1 Expenditure and Funding Analysis for a
reconciliation of amounts reported to management on a directorate basis to the totals reported on
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).
The net costs for each service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement include
depreciation (the cost of wear and tear on buildings, equipment, etc.). Adjustments are also made for
pension costs in accordance with the International Accounting Standard 19: Retirement Benefits
(IAS19). These technical adjustments are intended to bring the Authority’s accounts into line with UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Policies. They indicate the full cost to the Authority in the relevant
financial year of meeting all future commitments to its current and former employees under the Local
Government Pension Scheme.
These adjustments do not affect the net revenue spend of the Authority, paid for by the Welsh
Assembly Government and local taxpayers, supplemented by income generated by providing services.
For a full explanation of the basis for the charges under IAS 19, see Note 29. The adjustments are
not included in the budgeted figures as they have no impact on the cost of the Authority’s operations
for management purposes.
The IAS19 adjustments have a substantial impact on the assets of the Authority as recorded in the
Balance Sheet, reducing the Authority’s overall net assets to a balance of £0.852m. Excluding the
Pension Fund liability, the Authority’s net assets would be £12.231m. In the CIES, the actuarial
assessment of the Authority’s assets and liabilities in the Fund has produced a net actuarial gain of
£5.270m which has generated an accounting deficit of £1.650m for the year. Last year an actuarial
loss of £4.24m was advised; a negative variation between financial years of £4.74m.
Significant developments affecting the financial position of the Authority
In 2021/22 the Authority’s core funding from the Welsh Government increased by £0.352m at a cash
standstill level. It sought to deploy this to meet its statutory purposes and Governmental priorities,
supplemented by locally generated income and a range of grant funding. Additional funding has been
received from Welsh Government during the year both to mitigate the impact of the Covid pandemic
and support preparation for post-pandemic recovery initiatives. In addition, locally generated income
increased with greater number of visitors and activity in the year occurring as facilities where open
more in 2021/22 than in 2020/21.
The Authority has carried vacancies and these where in part filled by acting-up and other temporary
arrangements. A new management structure was agreed and became operation with a move to a 5
Directorate structure. As follows:


Chief Executive’s Office and Communications



Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s Department



Nature and Climate Change
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Planning and Place



Programme Manager’s Department

Active recruitment to all key posts in 2021/22 occurred and meant that in April 2022 all senior officer
posts were filled.
Covid 19 continued to have an impact on the income streams and service delivery plans of the
Authority during 2021/22. Community development projects, the National Park Management Plan
revision, Local Development Plan completion and visitor engagement priorities have all been delayed
in consequence of the restrictions in place during the year (tbc). To support services re-engagement
specific financial support in the form of grants was received from the Welsh Government.
An increasing proportion of total Welsh Government funding for the Authority takes the form of
grants for specific revenue and capital projects. A significant amount of funding £888,450, was
awarded in May 2021 for a range of capital and revenue projects to be delivered, largely in 2021/22.
These included projects to enhance resilience in peatland and upland areas plus the Warden Service,
improvements to visitor facilities and trails including the Four Falls Trail Plan.
Earmarked reserves allow the Authority to set aside contingency funds to meet future commitments,
such as the costs of Project Support, the Local Development Plan Enquiry and Sustainable
Development Fund grant commitments. They are used where the timing of funding receipts does not
match the financial year of the related expenditure.
The Authority’s total usable reserves decreased between 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022; from
£4.050m to £3.884m. The majority of these are ring-fenced for specific project work and other
commitments. Application of some reserves has been partly caused by delays to project delivery and the
continued adverse impact of covid restrictions. However, overall, some £419,000 of earmarked reserves
were applied to fund service delivery in the year, offset by the transfer of £331,000 of in the main unspent
project and service funds into reserves for planned application in 2022/23 and future years.
A simplified comparison between the budgeted and actual income and expenditure account by service
for 2021/22 is produced below and shows that the Authority planned to transfer £336,000 to its
General Reserve at the year-end for specific carry forwards whereas in fact £344,000 was transferred
to the Reserve; a net under-spend of £8,000.
The table below is in line with CIPFA’s current Code of Practice, which requires authorities to
account for expenditure and income in the same objective structure as is used for reporting to
management.
To enable comparisons between the revised budget and the outturn, year-end recharges for capital
charges (depreciation) and actuarially assessed pension scheme costs (in accordance with
international accounting standards) have been applied to the budget figures to give an adjusted total.
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Summary of principal variances between 2021/22 budget as adjusted and the Statement of
Accounts.

Net Service Costs

2021/22
Adjusted
Budget*

2021/22
Outturn*

2021/22
Variance
against
adjusted
Budget

£000

£000

£000

507

444

63

Chief Executive’s Office and
Communications
Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s
Department
Nature and Climate Change

508

476

32

1,391

1,342

49

Planning and Place

2,184

2,107

77

694

742

-48

5,284

5,111

173

-5

-7

2

-3,109

-3,179

70

-1036

-1036

0

-627

-627

0

-92

145

-237

-4,869

-4,704

-165

-415

-415

0

0

-8

8

Programme Manager’s Department
Adjusted net cost
Interest received
National Park
Government)

Grant

(Welsh

Assembly

National Park Levy (Constituent Authorities)
National Park Capital Grant (Welsh Assembly
Government)
Transfer to/(from) Earmarked Reserves

Accounting Adjustments reversed
Net Deficit /(Surplus)

*including notional depreciation, accounting standards adjustments for pension costs and other elements
required by CIPFA for accounts preparation.
Significant Variances Reported to Management
Chief Executive’s Office and Communications

A combination of underspending on employees with part year appointments plus overspending on Audit
fees with additional Audit Wales audit charges related to the 2020/21 financial year explain the year end
position. Increased income from filming fees and underspending on professional fees for external
communications work have also contributed to the position.
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Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s Department

The variance is due firstly, underspending on Members allowances, travel, and training. In part due to
COVID 19 arrangements meaning less travel and training has been undertaken. Subscriptions have also
underspent due greater joint working between National Park Authorities. For the Directorate there
was also overspending on Legal, this is due to a combination of professional external fees and advice
including reference subscriptions. This has in part been offset by income from legal work.
Nature and Climate Change

The position reflects in the main underspending due to delays in the implementation of Wardens, Ecology
and Access projects. This is a consequence of the continued impact of COVID 19 and also increased
visitor numbers utilising staff resources. However, a large number of projects are ongoing at year end
with spend planned to complete in 2022/23.
The main area of adverse variance for the Directorate was for the Education Team that lost substantial
income in 2021/22 due to COVID 19 restrictions affecting schools’ visits. This position was partly
mitigated by the receipt of Government funding.
Planning and Place

A combination of variances, positive and adverse, has resulted in the year end position. The Waterfalls
car parking receiving additional income with increased visitor numbers. However, at both Visitor
Centres increased income from visitor numbers and COVID 19 Grant has only in part covered additional
costs due to greater demand e.g. staffing and running costs to keep the facility operational and safe.
The Sustainable Development Grants underspent in year with an amount being added to earmarked
reserves to be utilised in 2022/23.
Programme Manager’s Department

The overspend for the directorate reflects increased recruitment costs as several posts have been
appointed to in 2021/22. Also, additional IT costs have been incurred due to the need to enhance the
public WIFI provision at Park sites, the implementation of enhanced IT security and authentication
processes to improve the authority’s cyber security.
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4)
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
A summary of expenditure qualifying as capital for accounting purposes is provided below:

Upland Access and Rights of Way Improvement Projects

2021/22
Actual
£000
299

Peatland Restoration
Green Growth Fund – de-carbonisation of visitor centres
Cwm Berach Uchaf Habitat Restoration
Four Fall Trail Design

246
59
30
25

Ffawddog Access Improvement
Car Park Improvement
Vehicles and Equipment
National Park Visitor Centre improvements

14
69
134
105

Total expenditure classified as capital under accounting definition and
policies*
Less:
Grants & Contributions received in year
Transfer from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account
Use of Capital Receipts Reserve
Revenue Financing
Net Expenditure

981
(627)
(216)
(105)
(33)
(981)

*Expenditure which meets the accounting definition of capital has been classified as capital and funded by grants, use of capital receipts, a legacy
receipt and an appropriation from the Revenue Account. Expenditure meets the relevant accounting de minimis criteria (as outlined in the Authority’s
accounting policies). When projects are completed, the resulting asset is included in the Authority’s Balance Sheet.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
THE AUTHORITY’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The Authority is required to:o
Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its
officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this Authority that officer is
the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer).
o
Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its
assets.
o
Approve the Statement of Accounts.
THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The Chief Financial Officer/S151 Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.
In preparing the Statement of Accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has: Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent;
 Complied with the Code of Practice.
The Chief Financial Officer has also:
 Kept proper accounting records which were up to date;
 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Statement of Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority at the accounting
date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2022. To comply with the Accounts and
Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014, the responsible financial officer is required to re-certify the Statement
immediately before their adoption by the Authority and after the completion of the audit, while the Chairman
certifies approval of the audited Statement by the Authority.

Date: xxxxxxx 2022
Section 151 Officer
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Chairman
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Date: xxxxxxx 2022
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The independent auditor’s report of the Auditor General for Wales to the members of Brecon
Beacons National Park Authority
To be added once received from Audit Wales Mark Jones is the contact
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Statement of Accounting Policies
General Principles
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority’s transactions for the 2021/22 financial year and
its financial position at the year-end of 31 March 2022. The purpose of the Statement of Accounting
Policies is to explain the calculation bases of the figures in the accounts.
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with:
The current year’s Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).
The guidance notes issued by CIPFA on the application of International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS’s); International Accounting Standards (IAS’s);
Accounting Concepts
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the following accounting principles and concepts.
Principles: relevance, reliability, comparability, understandability.
Concepts: materiality, faithful representation, timeliness, accruals, going concern, primary of legislative
requirements.
These principles and concepts have been used in the selection and application of accounting policies and
estimation techniques and in the exercise of professional judgement.
Accruals of Income and Expenditure
Activity is accounted for in the year in which it occurs, not simply when cash payments are made or
received. In particular:
Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers the significant risks and
rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority.
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can measure reliably the
percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority.
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the
date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.
Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor
or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may not be settled,
the balance of debtors is reduced and a charge is made to the expenditure and income account for the
income that might not be collected.
Transactions with a value of less than £1,000 will not be accrued unless there are specific operational
reasons for doing so, such as grant claim administration.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature within 3 months or less
from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk
of change in value.
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In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management.
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets
Services, and support services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding fixed
assets during the year:
 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated
gains in the revaluation reserve against which the losses can be written off
 Amortisation of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service
Contingent Liabilities, Contingent Assets and Provisions
Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible obligation
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision
would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required, or the
amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where
they are material.
Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible asset whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the authority.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it
is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential and they are material.
Provisions
Provisions are made where both of the following conditions apply: an event has taken place that imposes on the Authority a legal or constructive obligation that
probably requires settlement or a transfer of economic benefits or service potential
 a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation
Provisions are charged as an expense in the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement when a quantifiable potential obligation is identified. The value of the potential cost
is estimated as at the balance sheet date and carried in the Balance Sheet as a liability. When a payment is
eventually made, it is charged directly to the provision.
Estimated settlements and their probability are reviewed at the end of each financial year and if it becomes
unlikely that the expense will be incurred or the amount is expected to be reduced, the reduction or removal
of the provision will be credited back to the service originally charged. Where some, or all, of the expense
associated with a provision is expected to be recoverable from a third party, such as an insurer, this related
income will not be recognised unless it is virtually certain to be received on discharge of the obligation.
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Employee Benefits
Benefits payable during employment are received by current employees and are those due to be
settled within 12 months of the year-end. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave
and paid sick leave for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which
employees render service to the Authority. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements earned
by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial
year. The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and then reversed out through
the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in
which the holiday absence occurs.
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary
redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits or when the authority recognises the costs of a restructuring.
Post-employment benefits (pensions) are earned by employees during their working life in return for
services to their employer. Employees of the Authority are members of the Local Government Pension
Scheme, administered by Powys County Council. The scheme provides defined benefits to members
(retirement lump sums and pensions) earned as employees work for the Authority and is accounted for as
a defined benefits scheme.
The liabilities of the Powys Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet on
an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – ie an assessment of the future payments that will be
made in relation to retirements benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality
rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of earnings for current employees.
Liabilities used for accounting purposes are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate
bond yields. The assets of the Powys pension fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance
Sheet at their fair value. As follows:
 quoted securities – current bid price
 unquoted securities – professional estimate
 unitised securities – current bid price
 property – market value
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:
Service cost comprising:
current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked
past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect
relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of
Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), ie net interest expense for the authority – the change
during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the passage of time charged to
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation
at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period –
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of
contribution and benefit payments.
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Re-measurements comprising:
the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability
(asset) – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided
with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their
assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Contributions paid to the Powys Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund
in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with
the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the
amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement,
this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits
and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and
pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance that arises on
the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Reserve of being required to
account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between
the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two
types of events can be identified:
 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events
 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a material
effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts.
Foreign Currency
Where the Authority has entered into a transaction denominated in a foreign currency, the transaction is
converted into sterling at the exchange rate applicable on the date the transaction was effective. Where
amounts in foreign currency are outstanding at the year-end, they are reconverted at the spot exchange
rate at 31 March. Resulting material gains or losses are recognised in the Financing and Investment Income
and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Grants and Contributions
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions
and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable assurance that the Authority
will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and the grants or contributions will be received.
Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement until there is reasonable certainty that conditions attached to the grant or
contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits
or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be
consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned
to the transferor. Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to Capital Grants Unapplied
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Account. Where a grant has been used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment
Account.
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the
Balance Sheet as Receipts in Advance. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited
to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific
Grant Income (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.
Intangible Assets
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the
Authority as a result of past events (eg software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future
economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Authority.
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost and carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an
intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset
might be impaired – any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible
asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
Inventories
These have been included in the accounts at cost. This is a departure from the requirements of the
CIFPA Code of Practice, which require stocks to be shown at the lower of actual cost or net realisable
value, whichever is the lower. The difference is not considered to be material.
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee and the
value of the item of property, plant or equipment leased exceeds the de minimis threshold of £10,000. All
other leases are classed as operating leases.
Lease payments are charged in full according to date payable on a straight line basis, ensuring an equal annual
charge to the service revenue accounts throughout the life of the lease.
The Authority rents several properties in support of its services, and rental costs are accounted for on a
straight-line basis in the relevant rental periods. The Authority also rents-out several owned properties
that are not required for direct service provision. The properties are held as fixed assets in the balance
sheet, and income relating to these properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis in the relevant rental
periods.
Overheads and Support Services
In accordance with the current CIPFA Code of Practice, the cost of support services is accounted for in the
same format as presented to Authority Members in the management accounts. Support services and
departmental management costs are shown in the department under which they are managed.
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Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors
Prior period adjustments may arise because of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error.
Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances
and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. Material errors
discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and
comparative amounts for the prior period.
Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected
by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one
financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.
Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised
on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential
associated with the item will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits
or service potential (ie repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred. The
Authority has set a minimum level of £10,000 for capitalising expenditure, with the exception of land
and buildings which are always capitalised. Expenditure below the minimum level is treated as revenue.
Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price and any costs attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management.
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:
Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction: depreciated historical cost.
All other assets: fair value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use,
existing use value.
Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an asset,
depreciated replacement cost is used as an estimate of fair value. Where non-property assets that have
short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for fair value.
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their
carrying amount is not materially different from their fair value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five
years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised
gains.
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:
Either, where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)
Or, where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of
the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal
implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.
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Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is
recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:
where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount
of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)
where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the
asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for
depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their
depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite
useful life (ie freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are not yet available for use (ie
assets under construction). Deprecation is calculated on the following bases:
dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by
the valuer
vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset as advised
by a suitably qualified officer
infrastructure (rights of way, trails and associated structures – straight-line allocation over the useful life of
the asset as advised by a suitably qualified officer
In the absence of specific advice, the estimated asset lives used are as follows:
Vehicles and other equipment
IT equipment
Community and Infrastructure
assets

5 years
3 years
20 years

Intangible Assets

3 years

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant in
relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.
Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the
Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair
value are recognised only up to the amount of any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on
Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.
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Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale. When an asset is
disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property,
Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from
disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (ie netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of
disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the
Capital Adjustment Account.
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. Receipts are
appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. As
the Authority is debt free, 100% of any such receipts can be used to finance new capital expenditure
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against taxation, as the cost of fixed assets is fully provided
for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment
Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Surplus Assets
Where an asset is no longer being used for operational purposes but is not being actively marketed,
abandoned or scrapped, it is classified as a surplus asset. Surplus assets are valued at fair value (ie the price
which would be received in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Reserves
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as usable reserves for future policy purposes or to cover
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that
year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Unusable reserves are maintained to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, retirement
and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Authority.
Value added Tax
The accounts have been prepared on a VAT exclusive basis. Where VAT on an item of expenditure
cannot be reclaimed, it is charged to the related service or capital project.
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THE PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS
Explanatory note on the information included in the core financial statements.
2020/21

2020/21

2020/21

2021/22

2021/22

2021/22

Gross
Expenditure

Gross
Income

Net

Gross
Expenditure

Gross
Income

Net

Restated

Restated

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Restated
£000
354

0

354

399

-11

388

2,096

-701

1,395

Chief Executive’s Office and
Communications
Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s
Department
Nature and Climate Change

2,531

-696

1,835

Planning and Place

653

-2

651

6,033

-1,410

4,623

30
223

Programme Manager’s Department
Cost of Services

470

-26

444

491

-15

476

2,317

-975

1,342

3,347

-1,240

2,107

744

-2

742

7,369

-2,258

5,111

Other Operating Income and Expenditure
(Note 6)
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure (Note 7)

30
313

The Statement of Accounts sets out details of the Authority’s income and expenditure for the financial year
2021/22 and its Balance Sheet as of 31 March 2022.
The four core financial statements reflect the National Parks activities including the specific projects
undertaken and are as follows:
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) shows the accounting cost in the year
of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to
be funded from taxation. It also brings together all the gains and losses of the Authority for the year and
shows the aggregate increase or decrease in net worth.
The Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) shows the movement in year on reserves held by the
Authority, analysed into ‘usable’ reserves and ‘unusable’ reserves. The statement shows the true economic
cost of providing the authority’s services and how those costs are funded from the various reserves held.
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by
the authority. The net assets are matched by reserves held by the Authority.
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority during the
reporting period.
The Notes to the Accounts provide more details about items contained in the statements
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-4,369
507

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
(Note 8)
Deficit on the Provision of Services

-4,841
613

4,240

Actuarial Gains/Losses on Pension Assets/Liabilities (Note 29)

-5,270

4,240

Other Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure

-5,270

4,747

Total Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure

-4,657

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
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Movement in Reserves Statement
Year Ended 31st March 2022
General
Reserve

Balance at 31 March 2021
Movement in reserves during 2021/22
Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations (Note 11)
Net (Decrease)/Increase before Transfers to
Earmarked Reserves
Transfers from Earmarked Reserves (Note
12)
(Decrease)/Increase in 2021/22
Balance at 31 March 2022

-

Earmarked
Reserves

Capital
Grants
Unapplied
Account

Capital
Receipts
Reserve

Total
Usable
Reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

1,190

1,556

1,175

129

4,050

613

-

-

-

-267

(105)

(267)

(105)

820

-

207
136

-

136

343

-

136

(267)

(105)

1,420

908

24

1,533
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-

Unusable
Reserves

Total
Authority
Reserves

£000
-

7,855

£000
-

3,805

613

5,270

4,657

448

(448)

-

-

165

4,822

4,657

-

165

4,822

4,656

3,033

852

3,885

-
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Movement in Reserves Statement
Year Ended 31st March 2021

Balance at 31 March 2020

General
Reserve

Earmarke
d
Reserves

Capital
Grants
Unapplie
d
Account

Capital
Receipts
Reserve

Total
Usable
Reserve
s

Unusabl
e
Reserve
s

Total
Authorit
y
Reserve
s

£000
Restate
d

£000
Restated

£000
Restated

£000
Restate
d

£000
Restate
d

£000
Restate
d

£000
Restated

1,108

1,527

1,385

165

4,185

- 3,243

942

507

-

(210)
(210)

(36)
(36)

507

- 4,747

372

- 4,240
(372)

-

135

- 4,612

- 4,747

-

135

- 4,612

- 4,747

4,050

- 7,855

- 3,805

Movement in reserves during 2020/21
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis
under regulations (Note 11)
Net (Decrease)/Increase before Transfers to Earmarked
Reserves
Transfers from Earmarked Reserves (Note 12)
(Decrease)/Increase in 2020/21
Balance at 31 March 2021

618
111
29

29

82

29

(210)

(36)

1,190

1,556

1,175

129
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Balance Sheet
2020/21
(£000)

2021/22
(£000)

7,718 Property, Plant And Equipment (Note 14)
34 Intangible Assets (Note 15)
7,752 TOTAL LONG-TERM ASSETS

8,392
24
8,416

27
854
3,892
4,773

64
798
3,959
4,821

Inventories
Short-term Debtors (Note 18)
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 19)
CURRENT ASSETS

619 Short-Term Creditors (Note 20)

1,007

619 CURRENT LIABILITIES

1,007

15,536 Liability - Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (Note 29)
175 Other Long-Term Creditors
15,711 LONG TERM LIABILITIES
(3,805) NET ASSETS

11,378
-

11,378
852

1,175 Capital Grants Unapplied Account
2,875 Other Usable Reserves
4,050 Total Usable Reserves
(7,855) Unusable Reserves

908
2,977
3,885

(3,805) TOTAL RESERVES

(3,033)
852

Section 151 Officer

Date:
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Cash Flow Statement
2020/21

2021/22

£000

£000

Restated
507 Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services
Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the
provision of services for non-cash movements
-497
Adjustments for items included in the net surplus
or deficit on the provision of services that are
investing and financing activities
0
-497 Net cash flow from operation activities (note 21)

613
-1,034

0
-1,034

210 Investing activities (Note 22)

354

0 Financing activities (Note 23)
Net Increase or decrease in cash and cash
220 equivalents

-

-

4,112

3,892

Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the
reporting period
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the
reporting period (Note 19)
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Notes to the Accounts
Note 1: Expenditure and Funding Analysis
The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate how funding available to the
National Park (e.g., from Welsh Core Grant, levies) for the year has been used in the provision of services
in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally
accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows how this expenditure is
allocated for decision making purposes between the National Park’s Directorates. Income and Expenditure
accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the CIES.

Net
Expenditure
Chargeable to
the General
Reserve

Adjustments
between the
Funding and
Accounting
Basis

Net
Expenditure
in the CIES

2021/22

2021/22

2021/22

£000

£000

£000

400

-44

444

423

-53

476

970

-372

1,342

1,625

-482

2,107

614

-128

742

4,032

-1,079

5,111

-4,239

259

-4,498

-207

-820

613

Chief Executive’s Office and Communications
Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s
Department
Nature and Climate Change
Planning and Place
Programme Manager’s Department
Net Cost of Services
Other Income and Expenditure
Deficit/(Surplus)

Opening Balance General Reserves and Earmarked Reserves
Opening Balance

2,746
207

Revenue Surplus/(deficit)
Closing Balance on Revenue Reserve

2,952
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Net
Expenditure
Chargeable to
the General
Reserve

Adjustments
between the
Funding and
Accounting
Basis

Net
Expenditure
in the CIES

2020/21

2020/21

2020/21

£000

£000

£000

Restated

Restated
19
22
282

Restated

275
72
670

1,835

Chief Executive’s Office and Communications

335

Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s
Department

366

Nature and Climate Change

1,113 -

Planning and Place

1,560 579

Programme Manager’s Department

3,953

Net Cost of Services
Other Income and Expenditure

-

4,064

Deficit/(Surplus)

-

111

-

52
-

618

354
388
1,395

651
4,623
4,116
507

Opening Balance General Reserves and Earmarked Reserves
Opening Balance
Revenue Surplus/(deficit)
Closing Balance on Revenue Reserve

2,635
111
2,746
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Adjustments between Funding and Accounting basis
The following explains the main adjustments from the Net Expenditure Chargeable to the Authorities General
Reserve and Earmarked Reserves to arrive at the amounts in the CIES.
Adjustments from Capital purposes include (where they have taken place in year) depreciation, impairments
and revaluations gains and losses. It also adjusts for revenue contributions to capital expenditure that are not
chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices to the General Reserve.
Pension Adjustment show where costs have been affected by the removal of pension contributions and
replaced with IAS19 costs.
Other adjustments are items that cannot be allocated to either Capital or Pension adjustments.
Adjustments
for Capital
Purposes

Net Change Other
for the
Adjustments
Pension
Adjustments

2021/22
£000

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis
Chief Executive’s Office and Communications
Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s Department
Nature and Climate Change
Planning and Place
Programme Manager’s Department

2021/22
£000

0
0
-160
-112
-45

Cost of Services
Other Income and Expenditure
Difference between General Reserve surplus or
deficit and CIES surplus or deficit on the provision of
services

-

-

762
350 -

343

-

1,112 -

Adjustments
for Capital
Purposes

Net Change
for the
Pension
Adjustment
s

2020/21
£000
Restated
0
0
-164
-101
-31
296

2020/21
£000
Restated
-19
-22
-118
-174
-41
374
260
634

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis
Chief Executive’s Office and Communications
Monitoring Officer and Solicitor’s Department
Nature and Climate Change
Planning and Place
Programme Manager’s Department
Cost of Services
Other Income and Expenditure

435

Difference between General Reserve surplus or deficit
and CIES surplus or defect on the provision of services
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2021/22
£000

-44
-53
-212
-370
-83

317
660

139

Total
Adjustments

2021/22
£000
0
0
0
0
0

-44
-53
-372
-482
-128

- 51
51

1,079
259

-

Other
Adjustments

820
Total
Adjustments

2020/21
£000
Restated
0
0
0
0
0
-

123

-

123

2020/21
£000
Restated
-19
-22
-282
-275
-72
-

670
52

-

618
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NOTE 2: Accounting Standards Issued and Not Adopted
The 2021/22 Code requires the Authority to disclose information relating to the impact of an accounting change
that will be required by new accounting standards that have been issued but not yet adopted by the Code.
Amendments to the 2021/22 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting have been reviewed and are not
considered to be relevant or are immaterial to the Authority.
A new standard (IFRS16), which is likely to impact the way the Authority accounts for its leases in the financial
statements, was to have been introduced in 2020/21. The implementation date has been deferred to 1 April
2024 and work will be undertaken to quantify the impact for disclosure in the 2023 Accounts.
NOTE 3: Critical Judgements In Applying Accounting Policies
In applying the Authority’s Accounting Policies, certain judgements have been made involving uncertainty
about future events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are:
There is uncertainty about future levels of funding for National Park Authorities in Wales beyond the 2022/23
financial year. However, the assumption has been made that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an
indication that the assets of the Authority might be impaired because of a need to close facilities and reduce
levels of services provision.
NOTE 4: Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures which are based on assumptions made by the Authority
about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made considering historical experience, current
trends, and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual
results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates. The valuation of the Authority’s land
and buildings took place before the Covid19 pandemic, which may impact on both property values and income
generation potential at visitor centres. It is possible that material changes may need to be made to the values
of both land and operational buildings in the aftermath of the pandemic as property valuations continue to be
volatile.
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Item

Uncertainties

Pensions liability/Asset

Estimation of the net liability to pay
pensions depends on several complex
judgements relating to corporate
bond yields, the discount rate used,
projected rates of salary increase,
mortality rates and expected returns
on pension fund assets.

Property, Plant and
Equipment

An assessment of the pension liability
has been provided by AON Solutions
UK Limited, who also provide
actuarial advice on the assumptions
to be applied and their effect.
Assets are depreciated over useful
lives that are dependent on
assumptions about the level of repairs
and maintenance that will be carried
out on individual assets. The current
economic climate makes it uncertain
that the Authority will be able to
sustain its current spending on
repairs and maintenance, bringing
into doubt the useful lives assigned to
assets.
Valuations ascribed to
Property by the Authority’s valuers
are affected by market values which
are substantially dependent on
economic factors outside the
Authority’s control.

Effect If Actual Results Differ
from Assumptions
Changes in assumptions may interact
in several ways and may have a large
impact on the pension net liability in
the financial statements.
The
accounting standard governing the
accounting basis for Pension Scheme
costs is known to cause volatility in
estimates of assets and liabilities
between years and hence large
swings in both the CIES total and net
assets figure in the balance sheet.
A reduction in useful life or
identification
of
impairment
increases the charge to the Cost of
Services in the CIES and reduces the
value of assets in the Balance Sheet.
Changes in the market value of
assets may result in the Authority’s
land and buildings being under- or
over-valued. As a result of the
economic impact of Covid19, the
departure of the UK from the
European Union and turbulence in
Europe, there is significantly more
uncertainty in 2021/22 in relation to
property values. These impacts are
potentially material but not yet
quantifiable.

NOTE 5: Events after the Balance Sheet date
The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by Chief Financial Officer on xxx 2022. Where events
taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing on 31 March 2022, the figures
in the Statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this
information.
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NOTE 6: Other Operating Expenditure
2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

30

Pension Fund Administration Costs

30

30

Total

30

NOTE 7: Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

230

Interest on Pension Scheme net defined benefit liability

320

(7)

Interest receivable and similar income

(7)

223

Total

313

NOTE 8: Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (see also Note 9 - Total Grant Income)
2020/21
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2021/22
£000

Levies on Constituent Local Authorities
554
138
105

Powys County Council
Carmarthenshire County Council
Monmouthshire County Council

609
152
116

48

Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council

53

38

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

41

29

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council
Torfaen County Borough Council

32

29

941 Subtotal
2,827 Non-Specific Grant Income – National Park Grant
Revenue Grant Income – Welsh Government
177
received and not applied
187 Capital Grants and Contributions applied in year
Capital Grants and Contributions received and not
237
applied at year end
4,369 Total
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NOTE 9: Grant Income
The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement in the year.

Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
National Park Grant
National Park Capital Grant included in the Income and
Expenditure
Account
National Park Specific Projects Grant
Levies – Powys County Council
Carmarthenshire County Council
Monmouthshire County Council
Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council
Torfaen County Borough Council
Total
Credited to Services
EU–funded Grants
Other Government Grants
Other Local Authority Grants and Contributions
Heritage Lottery Fund Grant
Other Grants
Donations and Legacies
Total credited to services

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2,827
187

3,179
627

414
554
138
106
47
38
29
29
4,369

0
609
152
116
53
41
32
32
4,841

291
538
82
-7
70
2
976

29
1,054
123
31
65
4
1,306

Note 10 SUBJECTIVE ANALYSIS OF EXPENDITURE AND INCOME
This note explains the nature of expenditure and income of the Authority as shown in the CIES.
Total Grants, Contributions and Donations

5,345

6,147

2020/21

2021/22

£000’s

£000’s

Restated
Expenditure
Employee benefits

3,940

4,473

Other services

1,827

2,609

Depreciation, amortisation, revaluations

296

317

Interest Payments

230

320

6,293

7,719

Total expenditure
Income
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Fees, charges & services income

-434

Interest & investment income

-952

-7

-

7

-941

-

1,035

Government grants and other contributions

-4,404

-

5,112

Total Income

-5,786

-7,106

507

613

Levies

Surplus / deficit (-) on provision of services

NOTE 11: Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure
recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources
that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Authority to meet future capital and
revenue expenditure. Below is a description of the General Reserve, against which the adjustments are
made.
General Reserve
The General Reserve is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are required to be
paid and out of which all liabilities are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide
otherwise. These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact
on the General Reserve, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice. The
General Reserve therefore summarises the resources that the Authority is statutorily empowered to
spend on its services or on capital investment. Details of the adjustments are provided below.

General
Reserve
Adjustments between accounting
basis and funding basis 2021/22

£000

Capital
Capital
Grants
Receipts
Unapplied Reserve
Account

£000

£000

Movement
in
Unusable
Reserves

£000

Adjustments to the revenue
resources
Amounts by which income and
expenditure included in the
Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement are different
from revenue for the year calculated
in accordance with statutory
requirements

Pension Costs (transfers to/from
Pensions Reserve)

1,112

1,112
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Reversal of entries included in the
surplus or deficit on the provision of
services in relation to capital
expenditure
Total adjustment to revenue
resources

317

317

1,429

0

0

1,429

-

0

-

51

-51

-

Adjustments between revenue
and capital resources
Transfer of capital grants and
contributions to capital grants
unapplied
Transfer of capital grants and
contributions to revenue (nonqualifying items not capitalised)
Capital expenditure financed from
revenue balances
Capital Grants through the CIES
Total adjustments between revenue
and capital resources
Adjustments to capital
resources

33
627

0

0

0

0

51

-

-

660

-

0

-105

-

105

-

-216

0

-216

-

-216

-105

-321

-267

-105

448

609

Use of capital receipts to finance
capital expenditure
Application of capital grants to
finance capital expenditure
Total adjustments to capital
resources
Total adjustments

Adjustments between accounting
basis and funding basis 2020/21

General
Reserve

£000

-

Capital
Capital
Grants
Receipts
Unapplied
Reserve
Account

£000

-

33
-627

Movement
in
Unusable
Reserves

£000

£000

Restated Restated Restated

Restated

Page 48

34

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022

SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Adjustments to the revenue
resources
Amounts by which income and
expenditure included in the
Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement are different
from revenue for the year calculated
in accordance with statutory
requirements

Pension Costs (transfers to/from
Pensions Reserve)

634

Holiday pay

634

0

Reversal of entries included in the
surplus or deficit on the provision of
services in relation to capital
expenditure

296

Total adjustment to revenue
resources

930

296
0

0

930

Adjustments between revenue
and capital resources
Transfer of capital grants and
contributions to capital grants
unapplied

-237

237

-

Transfer of capital grants and
contributions to revenue (nonqualifying items not capitalised)

123

-123

-

Capital expenditure financed from
revenue balances

-11

Capital Grants through the CIES
Total adjustments between revenue
and capital resources
Adjustments to capital
resources

0
0

-

187

0

-

312

114

Use of capital receipts to finance
capital expenditure
Application of capital grants to
finance capital expenditure
Total adjustments to capital
resources

0

0

-

-187

-

0

11

-

198

-36 -

36

-

-324

0

-324

-

-324

-36

-360

Page 49

35

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022

SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Total adjustments

618

-210

-36

372

NOTE 12: TRANSFERS EARMARKED RESERVES
This note details the amounts set aside by the Authority out of its revenue resources to meet future costs
whose timing and extent are uncertain. These reserves are held until required or until the Authority
decides that the anticipated costs will not arise.
A summary of movements in earmarked reserves for the last two financial years is provided below:

Total

1,527

£000

£000

£000

£000

(146)

178

630

(305)

70

395

0

24

322

0

54

376

(158)

129

604

(115)

160

649

1

(304)

331

1,556

(420)

284

1,420

Balance at
31 March
2022

632

£000

1

Transfers in

Other Earmarked Reserves

£000

Transfers
out

297

Balance at
31 Mar2021

S106/Affordable Housing sums
received by the Authority but
not yet applied

Transfers in

598

£000

Transfers
out

Welsh Government Specific
revenue grants committed to
projects

Rounding
correction

Balance at
31 March
2020
£000

The purposes of earmarked reserves, with balances greater than £30,000, contained in the table above
are given below.
1. Welsh Government Specific revenue grants committed to projects
Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2017 £81,000 (2020/21 £107,000)
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects,
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2016/17. This will facilitate
reporting on the use of the funding.
Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2019 £218,000 (2020/21 318,000)
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects,
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2018/19.
Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2020 £nil (2020/21 £177,000)
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects,
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2020/21.
Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2022 £70,000 (New with an addition of
£70,000 in 2021/22). This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range
of specific projects, provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2021/22.
2. S106/Affordable Housing Reserve £376,000 (2020/21 £322,000)
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This reserve has been established to retain S106 sums payable to the Authority in relation
to property development pending their allocation to applicants for the provision of
affordable housing. Affordable Housing receipts which have conditions attached and are
potentially repayable to the developer have been treated as Receipts in Advance.
3. Other Earmarked Reserves
Legacy receipts Reserve £134,000 (2020/21 £134,000)
This new reserve was set up to earmark funding received in the form of bequests until it
can be appropriately used to benefit the National Park.
Conservation Fund Reserve £88,000 (2020/21 £88,000)
Fees received by the Authority from organisations using Authority land for filming, net of
any related costs, are set aside for use on environmental improvement projects and other
expenditure to benefit the National Park.
Project Support £87,000 (New with an addition of £87,000 in 2021/22)
Established to funded additional demands and costs that may potentially arise on the
implementation time specific projects.
Local Development Plan Enquiry Reserve £74,000 (2020/21 £110,000)
The Authority is legally required to publish a Local Development Plan periodically. This
involves extensive consultation and data collection, a public enquiry held by an external
Planning Inspector, and publication costs at intervals of 3-5 years. Funds were set aside
each year to help fund these recurring costs. The current Plan was adopted in 2014 and is
currently being reviewed.
Sustainable Development Fund Earmarked Sums £53,000 (£ 2020/21 58,000)
This reserve represents funding commitments agreed by the Grant Allocation Panel but
not claimed by the grantee at the financial year end.
Canal and Rivers Trust joint projects reserve £52,000 (2020/21 £52,000)
This new reserve was established for a net budget surplus generated by work carried out
by the Authority in partnership with the Canal and Rivers Trust. The reserve will be applied
to continue canal-side improvement projects.
Reserve provision for termination costs of temporary project officer posts £50,000 (2020/21 £50,000)
Established in recognition of the increasing proportion of employees who are temporarily employed
for specific projects, to cover potential unfunded expenses incurred at termination of contracts.
Reserve provision for Pooled Vehicle Replacement £40,000 (2020/21 £20,000)
This reserve is held to fund the future replacement of pooled vehicles. The aim is to add each year to
the balance where funds are available.
NOTE 13: Unusable Reserves
Unusable Reserves are those that are restricted and cannot be used to finance the Authority’s operational
activities.
This is due to one of two reasons:
 They represent assets recognised in the accounts, but which are not readily available to support
current spend;
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or
They represent future liabilities that will fall to the Authority in later years but under statute are not
chargeable against the budget until they become due, e.g. pensions deficits.
Unusable Reserves
Revaluation Reserve
Capital Adjustment Account
Accumulated Absences Account
Pensions Reserve
Total

31 March
2021
(£000)
3,460
4,284

31 March
2022
(£000)
3,450
4,958

(63)

(63)

(15,536)

(11,378)

(7,855)
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Revaluation Reserve
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the value of its
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated
gains are:



revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost
used in the provision of service and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or
disposed of and the gains are realised.

The Reserve contains only net revaluation gains accumulated since it was established on 1 April 2007.
Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment
Account.
2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

3470 Balance at 1 April
(10) Difference between fair value depreciation and
historical cost depreciation
(10) Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment
Account
3,460 Balance at 31 March

3,460
(10)
(10)
3,450

Capital Adjustment Account
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for
accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction, or
enhancement of those assets.
The Account is:




Debited with the cost of depreciation, impairment losses and amortisation;
credited with Revaluation Reserve funds to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis;
credited with the amounts set aside by the Council as capital financing.
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The Account contains revaluation gains accumulated on property, plant and equipment before 1 April 2007,
the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. The movement on the reserve during
the year is as follows:
2020/21
£000
4,012 Balance at 1 April

2021/22
£000
4,284

Capital funded items charged to the CIES
(276) Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current

(307)

assets
(20) Amortisation of intangible assets

(10)

(296) Subtotal

(317)

Values released from revaluation reserve
10 Depreciation costs funded from revaluation reserve
(286) Net costs of non-current asses used in year

10
(307)

Capital financing applied in the year
36 Use of capital receipts reserve to finance capital expenditure

105

187 Capital grants and contributions from CIES

627

324 Funding from the capital grants unapplied account

216

11 Revenue contributions to capital costs from CIES

33

558 Subtotal
4,284 Balance at 31 March

981
4,958

Pensions Reserve
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting
for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The Authority
accounts for post-employment benefits in the CIES as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of
service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on
any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be
financed as the Authority makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions
for which it is directly responsible.
The deficit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by
past and current employees and in the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them. A decrease in the
deficit by £4.158m to a net liability of £11.378m has been reported in 2021-22 by the Fund’s Actuaries. This is
mainly due to a decrease in the projected pension liabilities due to gains on assets and changes in postretirement mortality assumptions.

Page 54

40

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022

SUBJECT TO AUDIT

The statutory arrangements ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be
paid.
2020/21
£000
(10,662)
(4,290)
50
(1,140)

Balance at 1 April
Actuarial gains/(losses) on funded pensions assets and liabilities
Adjustment for historic unfunded liability no longer applicable
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or
credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
506 Employer’s pension contributions and direct payments to
pensioners payable in the year
(15,536) Balance at 31 March

2021/22
£000
(15,536)
5,270
0
(1,650)
538
(11,378)

The Accumulated Absences Account
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund
Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, eg annual leave entitlement
due but untaken at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is
neutralised by transfers to or from the Account.
2020/21
£000
(63) Balance at 1 April
0 Net change in Accrual; amount by which officer remuneration
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement on an accruals basis is different from remuneration
chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory
requirements
(63) Balance at 31 March
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£000
(63)
0
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NOTE 14: Property, plant and equipment
Land and
Buildings

Movements in
2021/22
Cost or Valuation:

Vehicles,
Plant,
Furniture
and
Equipment
Land and
Buildings

Infrastructure
Assets

Vehicles,
Plant,
Furniture
and
Equipment

£000

£000

At 1 April 2021
5,526
Movements in 2020/21
Additions
69
Cost or Valuation:
Valuation
0
At 1 April 2020
increases/(decreases)
recognised in the
Additions
Revaluation
Reserve
Valuation increases/(decreases)
recognised in the Revaluation 0
Valuation
Reserve
increases/(decreases)

677
£000
133

£000

0
5,474

439

recognised in the
Valuation increases/(decreases)
surplus/deficit on the
recognised in the surplus/deficit
provision of services*
on the provision of services
De-recognition
0
De-recognition (disposals and
(disposals and writewrite-offs)
offs)
Transfers (assets re-classified)
Transfers (assets re0
classified)
At 31 March 2021
At 31 March 2022
5,595
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated
and Impairment
depreciation and
At 1 April 2020
Impairment
At 1 April 2021
120
Rounding correction
Less accumulated
0
Less accumulated
depreciation
depreciation
written
out onwritten out on
revaluation/disposals
revaluation/disposals
Depreciation
the
Depreciation
writtenwritten out to 10
revaluation
reserve
out to the revaluation
reserve
Depreciation written out to the
Depreciation written
22
surplus/deficit on the provision
out to the
of services
surplus/deficit on the
Other movements in
provision of services
depreciation and impairment
Other movements in
0
Total and
depreciation charge
depreciation
for the year
impairment
Total At
depreciation
32
31 March 2021
charge for the year
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2022
152
At 31 March 2020
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2021
At 31 March 2021
5,406
At 31 March 2022

5,443

Community
Assets

Infrastructure
Assets

£000

1,279
313
0

Surplus
Assets

Community
Assets

£000

£000

1,193

1,020
277
0

Assets under
Construction

Surplus
Assets

Assets
under
Construction

£000

£000

727

0
0
0

Total
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£000

£000

0

0
189
0

Total
Property,
Plant and
Equipment
£000

£000

8,502
£000
981

127

0
7,961

52

134

68

273

0

0

527

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0

0

0
0
5,526
810

104

32
107

46

677

0
0

0
17

0
1,592

1,279

0

100

0

22
128

61

56

0

0
88

61

128
120

107

235
5,442

393

5,406
570

570

0
0
1,297

0
0

0

108
614
773

20
1,020

101

0

0
39

101
506
788
773

978
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0
0
0

39
90
969
1,207

0
0
0

0
0
25

0

0
0

25
51
701
969

0
0
189

0
0
0
0

0
(127)
0

0

0
0
0

0

0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
189

0
0

0

14
0
8,502
9,483

0

509
784
1
0
0

0

10 10

0

209
307

0

56

0

0
276

0

307786

128

1091
7,452

0

7,718
7,718

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

26

0
0

0

51

0

108

0
0

405
506

0
0

575

0

8,392
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Asset Valuations as at 31 March 2022
Brecon Beacons National park Authority’s freehold and long leasehold properties were last valued
on 1st April 2019 by External Valuers, Chris Hyde MSc MRICS FAAV and Elizabeth Hill BSc MRICS
of Cooke & Arkwright Chartered Surveyors. The valuations were in accordance with the
requirement of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards 2017 (The Red Book) and the International
Valuation Standards 2017 (IVS) and the RICS Valuation, Globel Standards 2017 – UK national
supplement. The valuation of each property was on the bases and assumptions:
1.

For Owner Occupied non specialist property plant and equipment: Valued to Existing Use Value
assuming that the property would continue in existing use.
2. for Owner Occupied specialist property, plant and equipment: Valued to Existing Use Value using
Depreciated Replacement Cost assuming that the properties would continue in existing use or
3. For investment Properties: Valued to Fair Value assuming that the properties would be sold subject to
any existing leases.
Gross
Value as at
last
valuation

Land
and
Buildings

Vehicles,
Furniture,
Plant and
Equipment

Infrastructure
Assets

Community
Assets

Surplus
Assets

Assets under
Construction

TOTAL

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Carried at
historic cost
Valued at fair
value as at 1
April 2019

69

810

1,592

1,297

0

189

3,957

5,470

0

0

0

0

0

5,470

TOTAL

5,539

810

1,592

1,297

0

189

9,427

See also Note 4 in relation to uncertainty affecting asset values.
Depreciation: All assets except land are depreciated, in line with the Authority’s Statement of Accounting
Policies.
Capital Commitments: As at 31 March 2022 the Authority £0.210m (£0.073m at 31 March 2022) of
capital commitments. The largest commitment was related to National Park Visitors Centre for an on going
capital project to enhance and improve facilities at the site.
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NOTE 15: Intangible Assets
2020/21

£000

2020/21

2021/22

£000

£000

Under
Construction

2021/22

£000
Under
Construction

Balance at start of year

53

0

53

0

Less carrying amount of derecognised asset

-13

0

-13

0

Balance at start of year

40

0

40

0

Accumulated amortisation

23

0

43

0

Less Accumulated amortisation on
de-recognised asset

-13

0

-13

0

Net Amortisation at start of
year

10

0

30

0

Net carrying amount at start of
year

30

0

10

0

Additions – Purchases

0

0

0

0

Intangible Assets under construction
transferred to Intangible Assets

0

24

0

24

Amortisation for the period

-20

0

-10

0

Net carrying amount at end of
year

10

24

0

24

Gross Carrying amounts

NOTE 16: Impairment Losses
The CIPFA Code of Practice requires the Authority to disclose any impairment losses or reversals charged to
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of services and to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.
These disclosures are consolidated in Notes 14 and 15, reconciling the movement in the year in the Property,
Plant and Equipment and Intangible Asset balances.
There were no impairments identified during 2021/22 (none in 2020/21). Land and Buildings were revalued as
at 1 April 2019 and their asset lives reassessed. Any changes to asset lives have been taken into account when
calculating depreciation.
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NOTE 17: Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, together with the
resources that have been used to finance it. If capital expenditure were to be financed in future years by
charges to revenue as assets were used by the Authority, the expenditure would require a calculation of the
Capital Financing Requirement. As the Authority is currently debt-free, this calculation is not required.
2020/21
£000
Opening capital financing requirement
Capital investment
-Expenditure on capital assets
Property, Plant and Equipment
Intangible Assets
Less: Sources of finance
Transfer from Capital Grants Unapplied Account
Government grants and other contributions applied
Capital Receipts applied
Revenue contributions
Closing Capital Financing Requirement

2021/22
£000

0

0

527
24
551

981
0
981

(324)
(187)
(36)
(4)
0

(216)
(627)
(105)
(33)
0

NOTE 18: Short-Term Debtors
31 March 2021
£000

31 March 2022
£000

Other Local Authorities

546
18

539
85

Other

290

174

Total Short-Term Debtors

854

798

Debtors falling due in less than one year
Central Government Bodies

NOTE 19: Cash and Cash Equivalents
31March 2021
£000
Cash held by the Authority
Bank Current Accounts
Total
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31March 2022
£000

2

2

3,890

3,957

3,892

3,959
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Note 20: Creditors
31March 2021
£000

31March 2022
£000

Local Authorities

115
83

94
89

Other Entities and Individuals

421

824

Total

619

1,007

31March 2021

31March 2022

£000

£000

Central Government Bodies

Long-Term Creditors (S106 receipts)

175

0

A balance of £175,000 relating to a S106 Affordable Housing receipt was classified as a long term creditor as at 31 March 2021 as it
was not expected to be allocated until after the end of the 2021/22 financial year. This has been re-classification as a short term
creditor as it is expected that it will be allocated in the 2022/23 financial year.

NOTE 21: Cash Flow Statement: Operating Activities
2020/21

2021/22
£000

£000
Restated
-

275

Depreciation

-

307

-

20

Amortisation

-

10

-

11
48

Increase/decrease in Inventories
Increase/decrease in Short Term Debtors

-

56

-

29

Increase/decrease in Short Term Creditors

-

213

-

634

Movement in Pension Liability

-

1,112

37

Capital Grants included in the CIES
187
237
-

627
Capital Grants

-

497

-
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NOTE 22: Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities
2020/21

2021/22

£000

£000

528
0
-318

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

981

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

0

Other receipts from investing activities (Capital
Grants)

-627

210 Net cash flows from investing activities

354

NOTE 23: Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities
The authority has not short or long-term borrowing and therefore no Financing activity transactions to
disclose.
NOTE 24: Members’ Allowances
The Authority paid the following amounts to members of the Authority during the year.

Allowances
Expenses
Total

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

88
1
89

87
0
87

NOTE 25: Officers’ Remuneration and termination benefits
The remuneration paid to the Authority’s senior employees is as follows:
Employer’s Termination
Taxable
Payment
2021/22
Salary
Pension
Expenses
Contribution
£000
£000
£000
£000
Chief Executive
57
0
12
0
Commenced in July 2021.
Monitoring Officer
Commenced in July 2021.
2020/21

Chief Executive*

46

0

Salary

Taxable
Expenses

£000
84

10

0

Employer’s Termination
Payment
Pension
Contribution
£000
£000
£000
0
17
85

Total
£000
69

56

Total
£000
186

*The previous Chief Executive left the Authority on 31 March 2021.
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There were no other senior employees receiving remuneration of more than £60,000 per annum (none in
2020/21).
The annual salary of the Chief Executive as a multiple of the median salary of an Authority employee (£27,514)
is 3.0. (3.1 in 2020/21 of the median salary of £27,041).
Termination Benefits
The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other
redundancies are set out in the table below. Bands have been combined where required to ensure
confidentiality, except where disclosure is a statutory requirement.
Exit package cost
band (including
special payments)
£
0-20,000
20,001-40,000
40,001-60,000
60,001-80,000
80,001-100000
TOTAL

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of other
departures agreed

Total number of
exit packages by
cost band

Total cost of exit
packages in each
band

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2
0
0
0
0
2

0
0
0
0
0
0

1
0
0
0
1
2

0
0
0
0
0
0

3
0
0
0
1
4

0
0
0
0
0
0

49
0
0
0
93
142

0
0
0
0
0
0

In 2021/22 the Authority did not pay any termination benefits as there were no redundancies. In 2020/21 the
Authority compulsorily terminated the contract of two employees incurring liabilities of £33,708. In addition,
two further departures were agreed, incurring liabilities of £108,079.
NOTE 26: External Audit Costs
The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts,
certification of grant claims and statutory inspections provided by the Authority’s external auditors.

Fees payable to Audit Wales, external auditors:

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

(expected)
27
27
17
21
(1)
16
43
64

Financial Audit
Performance Audit
Financial Audit
Total

NOTE 27: Related Parties
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals that have
the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the Authority.
Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Authority might have been
constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s
ability to bargain freely with the Authority.
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Central Government
The Welsh Assembly Government has effective control over the general operations of the Authority providing
most of its funding in the form of grants and by determining the total Levy which the Authority may make on
its Constituent Local Authorities. It also sets objectives for the Authority by means of the Memorandum of
Understanding and the annual Strategic Grant Letter. The Authority’s operations and management are also
controlled by a statutory framework encompassing a range of legislation which includes a definition of its
statutory purposes and duty. Government grant receipts in the years to 31 March 2021 and 2022 are included
in Note 9.
Members
The 18 Members of the Authority have direct control over the Authority’s financial and operating policies. The
total of members’ allowances paid in 2020/21 and in 2021/22 is shown in Note 24. Where members are
personally affected by decisions made by the Authority they are required to declare an interest and refrain from
taking part in those decisions and discussions relating to them. Details of members’ interests are recorded in
the Register of Members’ Interests, available on the Authority’s website, together with further details of
expenses if paid to Members for the year. No material transactions between the Authority and parties where
Members were in a position of joint control or influence, other than those referred to elsewhere in this note,
were identified.
Other Public Bodies
The Constituent Local Authorities, within whose boundaries the Authority’s own boundary runs, contribute to
the finances of the Authority by means of a statutory levy, determined by the Welsh Assembly Government.
Each of these authorities provides a number of Councillors to serve as members of the National Park Authority,
broadly in proportion to the size of the levy they contribute and their area within the National Park. The
authority represented by each member is shown in Appendix 1 of the Statement of Accounts. Grants for
specific purposes are also received from or via local authorities and the total of these is shown in Note 9.
Senior Management
The Chief Executive and senior management of the Authority are in a position to influence the Authority’s
policies and allocation of its resources. Payments to senior officers with a remuneration of greater than
£60,000 per annum are identified in Note 25. All staff are required to declare gifts and hospitality received.
Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Authority
The Authority gives grants for specific purposes to organisations under the Sustainable Development Fund
Grant Scheme, but it is not considered that the Authority has control, joint control or significant influence over
the entities assisted. The Authority has historically given an annual subscription to the Welsh Association of
National Park Authorities, which exists to promote the interests of the 3 Welsh National Parks. This was £nil
in 2020/21 and 2021/22 as contributions were waived.
The Authority made a payment of £10,000, towards the National Parks Partnership in 2020/21. Due to the
winding up of the organisation no further payments have been made in 2021/22 and £391.72 was received from
the voluntary member liquidation of the organisation. This organisation was a Limited Liability Partnership
formed by all 15 UK National Park Authorities to generate commercial sponsorship and other funding for the
benefit of all the Authorities. The Chief Executive was one of 10 Board members of the Partnership.
The Authority made payments in 2021/22 totalling £1,125.00 (2020/21 £972.50) to Usk Valley Training. The
owner of this business is related to a member of the Corporate Governance Team,
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The Authority received grants of £41,931.86 (2020/21 £71,373) from, made payments of £902.88 (2020/21
£902.88) and sold £134.00 of publications to Natural Resources Wales. The individual acting, via a secondment
arrangement as Transition Director and member of the Corporate Governance Team from 15 March 2021 was
related to the Head of Operations Southwest Wales of Natural Resources Wales.
The Authority made payments totalling £5,134.75 (2020/21 £4,540 included in creditor balances) for legal
services provided by Wokingham Council in relation to registration of titles to the Authority’s land. The
Authority’s part-time Monitoring Officer also held a senior role within Wokingham Council.
NOTE 28: Leases
The Authority as Lessee
Finance Leases: The Authority currently has no material leases which are classified as finance leases under the
terms of the CIPFA Code of Practice.
Operating Leases: The Authority’s headquarters, some office equipment and some items in the vehicle fleet
have been acquired under operating leases. The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable
leases in future years are:
Total Commitments Under Operating
Leases
Payments within 1 year
Buildings
Vehicles
Total

31 March
2021
£000

31 March
2022
£000

22
61

22
59
83

81

Payments 2-5 years
Buildings
Vehicles

89
86

68
30

Total

175

98

Payments after 5 years

0
258

0
179

Total Commitments

The Authority as Lessor
Finance Leases: The Authority does not lease out property under terms which would be classified as finance
leases under the terms of the current CIPFA Code of Practice. (Nor in 2020/21)
Operating Leases: The Authority leases out parts of its premises at the Craig y nos Country Park and the
National Park Visitor Centre to catering providers and small businesses. The minimum amount receivable from
the first group of tenants is estimated to be £20,000 within 1 year (for 2020/21 less than this was received due
to the impact of Covid19 on operations). New lease terms for the catering businesses at both sites were
agreed during 2021/22. Several small businesses currently lease premises at Craig y nos Country Park on a
rolling monthly basis and it has been estimated income of less than £6,000 will be received within 1 year.
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NOTE 29: Defined Benefit Pension Schemes
Introduction
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes contributions towards
the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not be payable until employees retire, the
Authority has a commitment to make the payments that must be disclosed at the time when employees earn
their future entitlement. In accordance with International Accounting Standards, disclosure of certain
information concerning assets, liabilities, income and expenditure relating to pension schemes is required in
relation to future amounts.
The disclosures that follow relate to the funded liabilities within the Powys County Council Pension Fund (“the
Fund”) which is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (the “LGPS”). The LGPS is a funded defined
benefit plan with benefits earned up to 31 March 2014 being linked to final salary. Benefits after 31 March 2014
are based on a career average revalued earnings scheme. Details of the benefits to be paid for the period
covered by this disclosure are set out in the LGPS Regulations 2013 and the LGPS (Transitional Provisions,
Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014.
Unfunded pension arrangements arise from termination benefits paid on a discretionary basis upon early
retirement in respect of a member of the LGPS. Brecon Beacons National Park Authority recognises gains and
losses in full, immediately through Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. The date of the last full
actuarial valuation of the employer’s LGPS unfunded benefits was 31st March 2019. There is no further liability
in relation to unfunded benefits as of 2021/22 and no disclosure is made in relation to unfunded benefits in the
year of account.
Funding and Governance Arrangements of the LGPS
The funded nature of the LGPS requires Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and its employees to pay
contributions into the Fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment
assets. Information on the framework for calculating contributions to be paid is set out in LGPS Regulations
2013 and the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement. The last actuarial valuation was 31 March 2019 and the
contributions to be paid until 31 March 2023 resulting from that valuation are set out in the Fund’s Rates and
Adjustment Certificate. To calculate the level of contributions required to meet its share of the Fund’s liabilities
and to obtain the disclosures and calculations required to complete the annual Statement of Accounts, the
Authority uses the services of a qualified actuary: AON Solutions UK Limited. The Fund Administering
Authority, Powys County Council is responsible for the management of the Fund.
Key Assumptions

Discount rate
CPI Inflation
Pension Increases
Pension Accounts
revaluation rate
Salary increases

31
March
2021
(% per
annum)
2.1
2.7
2.7
2.7

31
March
2022
(% per
annum)
2.7
3.0
3.0
3.0

4.2

4.5

Mortality assumptions
The mortality assumptions are based on actual mortality experience of members within the Fund based on
analysis carried out as part of the 2019 valuation and allow for expected future mortality improvements. Sample
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life expectancies at age 65 resulting from these mortality assumptions are shown below. At 31 March 2022 date
the assumed rates for future mortality have bee increased to reflect a slightly more negative outlook as a result
of the Covid 19 pandemic.
Post-retirement mortality
(retirement in normal health)

31 March
2021
years

31 March
2022
years

Males
Member aged 65 at accounting date

21.9

21.8

Member aged 45 at accounting date

23.3

23.2

Member aged 65 at accounting date

25.1

25.0

Member aged 45 at accounting date

26.5

26.4

Females

Assets
The assets allocated to the Employer in the fund are notional and are assumed to be invested in line with the
investments of the Fund for the purposes of calculating the return to be applied to those notional assets over
the accounting period. The Fund is large and holds a significant proportion of its assets in liquid investments.
As a consequence, there will be no significant restriction on realising assets if a large payment is required to be
paid from the fund in relation to an employer’s liabilities. The assets are invested in a diversified spread of
investments and the approximate split of assets for the Fund as a whole (based on data supplied by the
Administering Authority) is shown in the disclosures split by quoted and unquoted investments.
The Administering Authority may invest in a small proportion of the Fund’s investments in the assets of some
of the employers participating in the fund if it forms part of their balanced investment strategy.
Asset allocation
Value at
31/3/2021

Value at 31/3/2022
%

Total

Quoted

Unquoted

Total

Equities

54.2

42.1

7.2

49.3

Property

8.4

8.6

0.0

8.6

Government Bonds

11.9

10.9

0.0

10.9

18.4

0

0.0

0

0

11.6

0

11.6

Cash

3.4

1.7

0.0

1.7

Other

3.7

18.9

-1.0

17.9

Total

100.0

93.8

6.2

100.0

Corporate Bonds
Multi Asset Credit
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Reconciliation of funded status to Balance Sheet

Fair value of assets
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation
Pension asset/(liability) recognised on the Balance
Sheet

Value as at 31 Value as at 31
March 2021
March 2022
£M
£M
25.90
28.44
41.43
39.82
(15.53)
(11.38)

The split of the liabilities at the last valuation between the various categories of members is as follows:
Active Members
45%
Deferred Pensioners
27%
Pensioners
28%
Breakdown of amounts recognised in CIES (deficit on the Provision of Services) and
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Period ending
Period ending
31 March 2021
31 March 2022
£m
£m
Operating Cost
Current service cost(1)
0.91
1.33
Financing Cost
Interest on net defined benefit liability
0.23
0.32
Pension expense recognised in the
deficit on provision of services
Re measurements in Other
Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Return on plan assets (in excess of)/below
that recognised in net interest.
Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in
financial assumptions
Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in
demographic assumptions
Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in
liability experience
Total Amount Recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure (2) (3)
Total Amount Recognised

1.14

1.65

(3.42)

(2.18)

8.03

2.81

0.00

(0.40)

(0.32)

(0.12)

4.29

(5.27)

5.43

(3.62)

(1) The current service cost includes an allowance for the
administration expenses of £0.03m in 2021 and £0.03m in
2022.
(2) For 2020/21 only the total amount recognised in the
Income and Expenditure Account is net of a gain of
£50,000 arising from the cessation of a financial liability in
relation to historic unfunded benefits.
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(3) The Authority recognises pension fund gains and losses
immediately in full through entries in Other
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.
Changes to the present value of the defined benefit obligation

Opening defined benefit obligation
Current service cost
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation
Contributions by participants
Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in
financial assumptions
Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in
demographic assumptions
Actuarial (gains)/losses due to liability
experience
Net benefits paid out
Closing defined benefit obligation

Period ending Period ending
31 March 2021 31 March 2022
£m
£m
32.55
41.43
0.91
1.33
0.74
0.86
0.16
0.16
8.03
(2.81)
0.00

(0.40)

(0.32)

0.12

(0.64)
41.43

(0.87)
39.82

Changes to the fair value of assets

Opening fair value of assets
Interest Income on assets
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on assets
Contributions by the employer
Contributions by participants
Net benefits paid out
Closing fair value of assets

Period
ending 31
March 2021
£m
21.94
0.51
3.42
0.51
0.16
(0.64)
25.90

Period
ending 31
March 2022
£m
25.90
0.54
2.18
0.53
0.16
(0.87)
28.44

Actual return on assets
Period
ending 31
March 2021
£m
0.51
3.42
3.93

Interest Income on assets
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on assets
Actual return on assets
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Risks associated with the fund in relation to accounting
Asset volatility
The liabilities used for accounting purposes are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate
bond yields. If assets underperform, this yield will create a deficit in the accounts. The Fund holds a significant
proportion of growth assets which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long term creates
volatility and risk in the short term in relation to the accounting figures.
Changes in bond yield
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the liabilities for accounting purposes
although this will be marginally offset by the increase in the assets as a result.
Inflation risk
The majority of the pension liabilities are linked to either pay or price inflation. Higher inflation expectations
will lead to a higher liability value. The assets are either unaffected or loosely correlated with inflation meaning
that an increase in inflation will increase the deficit.
Life Expectancy
The majority of the Fund’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member following retirement,
so increase in life expectancy will result in an increase in the liabilities.
Exiting employers
An employer who leaves the Fund (or their guarantor) may have to make an exit payment to meet any shortfall
in assets against their pension liabilities. If the employer (or guarantor) is not able to meet this exit payment,
the liability may in certain circumstances fall on the other employers in the Fund. Further, the assets at exit in
respect of ‘orphan’ liabilities’ may in retrospect not be sufficient to meet the liabilities. This risk may also fall
on other employers in the Fund. ‘Orphan liabilities’ are currently a small proportion of the overall liabilities in
the Fund.
Sensitivity Analysis
The approximate impact of changing the key assumptions on the present value of the funded defined benefit
obligation at 31 March 2021 and the projected service cost for the period ending 31 March 2022 is set out
below. In each case only the assumption mentioned is altered; all other assumptions remain the same and are
summarised in Section 1.
+0.1% p.a.

Base Figure

-0.1% p.a.

40.52
-2.2
1.28
-3.3

41.43

42.34
2.2
1.36
3.4

+0.1% p.a.

Base Figure

-0.1% p.a.

41.55

41.43

41.31

Discount Rate Assumption
Adjustment to discount rate
Present value of total obligation (£m)
% Change in present value of total obligation
Projected service cost (£m)
Approximate % change in projected service cost
Rate of general Increases in salaries
Adjustment to salary increase rate
Present value of total obligation (£m)
% Change in present value of total obligation

1.32

0.3

Projected service cost (£m)

1.32

Approximate % change in projected service cost
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Rate of increase to pensions in payment,
deferred pensions assumption and rate of
revaluation of pension accounts assumption
Adjustment to pension increase rate

-1 year

Base Figure

+ 1 year

42.22

41.43

40.64

Present value of total obligation (£m)
% Change in present value of total obligation

1.9

Projected service cost (£m)

-1.9

1.36

Approximate % change in projected service cost
Post retirement mortality assumption
Adjustment to mortality age rating
assumption*

1.32

1.28

3.4

-3.3

-1 year

Base Figure

+ 1 year

42.92

41.43

39.94

Present value of total obligation (£m)
% change in present value of total obligation
Projected service cost (£m)

3.6

-3.6

1.37

1.32

4.1

1.27
-4.0

‘* a rating of + 1 year means that members are assumed to
follow the mortality pattern of the base table for an individual
that is 1 year older than they are.
Estimated pension expense in future periods
Period ending 31
March 2022
1.32
0.32
1.64

Current service cost
Interest on net defined benefit liability/(asset)
Total estimated pension expense

Allowance for administration expenses included in Current Service Cost: £0.03m
Estimated pensionable payroll over the period: £2.52m
Contributions for the period ending 31 March 2023: The Authority’s regular contributions to the Fund for the
accounting period to 31st March 2023 are estimated to be £0.55m. Additional contributions may also become
due in respect of any employer discretions to enhance members’ benefits in the Fund over the next accounting
period. The duration of funded liabilities is 21.8 years.
NOTE 30: NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
The Authority has no financial instruments of its own, but its activities expose it to three principal financial risks:
 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Authority
 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its commitments
to make payments
 Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Authority because of changes in such
measures as interest rates and stock market movements.
The Authority, being debt-free and placing its surplus funds, in accordance with its Treasury Management
Strategy, in instantly accessible accounts or on short-term deposit, with a bank which has a very high credit
rating has minimised its exposure to the risk of failure by another party to repay funds deposited.

Page 70

56

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022

SUBJECT TO AUDIT

The risk of losses from the failure of customers to pay the Authority is minimised through the Authority’s debt
management procedures. The majority by value of the Authority’s debtors are other public bodies which are
considered to have good credit ratings. (See Note 18: Short-Term Debtors).
As the Authority has funds in a mixture of immediately accessible bank accounts, short-term deposits and fixed
notice accounts it has some limited exposure to liquidity risk. Interest rates and cash balances are regularly
reviewed, and consideration given to placing further funds on deposit should interest rates become more
favourable.
The Authority is not exposed to market risk except in relation to its share of the Powys Pension Fund. See
Note 30 for further details.
NOTE 31: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
None were identified in 2021/22, nor in 2020/21.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
ACCRUALS: The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not as money is
received or paid.
CAPITAL CHARGE: A charge to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of fixed assets used in the provision of
service.
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE: Expenditure on the acquisition of a fixed asset or expenditure which adds to and not merely
maintains the value of an existing fixed asset.
CAPITAL RECEIPTS: Proceeds of not less £10,000 from the sale of fixed assets. They may be used to finance new
capital expenditure or repay debt. They cannot be used to finance normal day to day revenue spending.
COMMUNITY ASSETS: Assets that the authority intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life,
and that may have restrictions on their disposal.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/ASSETS: These arise from a past event which is dependent upon future uncertain events
and timing prior to being recognised in the accounts.
REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE: Expenditure classified as capital for funding
purposes but which does not result in the expenditure being carried on the balance sheet as a fixed asset. These items
are generally grants and expenditure on property not owned by the Authority.
DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME: A pension scheme where the scheme rules define the benefits independently of the
contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of the scheme.
FINANCE LEASE: A lease that transfers all of the risk and rewards of ownership of a fixed asset to the lessee.
OPERATING LEASE: A lease other than a finance lease.
FIXED ASSETS: Tangible assets that yield benefits to the authority and the services it provides for a period of more than
one year.
USEFUL LIFE: The period over which the authority will derive benefits from the use of a fixed asset.
ABBREVIATIONS:
CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
LASAAC Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard IAS International Accounting Standard
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BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021-22

Page 73

59

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

21 July 2022

By

Chief Executive’s Office

Title of

Audit Wales: Sustainable Tourism Report

Report
Item 10

For Information
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This report has been prepared under section 41 of the Public Audit (Wales)
Act 2004.
Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales
Audit Wales
24 Cathedral Road
Cardiff
CF11 9LJ
The Auditor General is independent of the Senedd and government. He examines and certifies
the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including
NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the Senedd on the economy, efficiency and
effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their
resources in discharging their functions.
The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local
Government (Wales) Measure 2009.
The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales
Audit Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise
the Auditor General.
© Auditor General for Wales 2022
Audit Wales is the umbrella brand of the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office,
which are each separate legal entities with their own legal functions. Audit Wales is not itself
a legal entity. While the Auditor General has the auditing and reporting functions described
above, the Wales Audit Office’s main functions are to providing staff and other resources for the
exercise of the Auditor General’s functions, and to monitoring and advise the Auditor General.
You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium.
If you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The
material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give the
title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.
For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales.
We welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or
English and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not
lead to a delay.
Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.
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Sustainable tourism in
Wales’ National Parks
Drawing on its recent work on sustainable tourism,
Audit Wales considers some of the challenges faced by
National Park Authorities in delivering their statutory
purposes and duty
1

While people visit the National Parks for many reasons, typically
recreational use and admiration of natural beauty, these Parks also house
irreplaceable ecosystems and living, breathing communities. Tourism is
often therefore described as a problematic contradiction; where tourism
attracts visitors, economic benefits, and educates the public, but their
presence can pose a risk to the protection of the cultural and natural sites
in a National Park.

2

Wales’ three National Parks are well known tourism destinations, and
their status provides a strong brand image which extends beyond their
boundaries. With the growing rate of tourism in National Parks, sustainable
tourism – finding ways to encourage tourism growth while still preserving
the culture and biodiversity of these areas – has become ever more
important.

Exhibit 1: the United Nations World Tourism Organisation definition of
Sustainable Tourism

Tourism that takes full account of its current
and future economic, social and environmental
impacts, addressing the needs of visitors, the
industry, the environment and host communities.
Source: unwto.org/sustainable-development
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3

In 2021-22, the Auditor General published three reports on how each
of Wales’ National Park Authorities are responding to the challenge of
managing and helping to deliver sustainable tourism. Each of these
reviews identified some difficulties faced by National Park Authorities and
their partners in implementing their responsibilities. The remainder of this
paper highlights some important common issues emerging from these
reports.

4

These are:
a the three National Park Authorities play a vital role in managing the
environment and encouraging visitors to enjoy the outdoors;
b National Park Authorities in Wales have to balance encouraging
tourism with conserving the natural environment but find this difficult to
achieve;
c tourist businesses mostly value the work of the National Park
Authorities but do not think they have the balance right between their
two statutory purposes;
d most tourist businesses seek to work sustainably and recognise the
value of sustainable tourism; and
e national park authorities do not have the resources or powers to
control or influence the number of people who visit their areas, nor their
behaviour and impact.

5

The Welsh Government should consider these findings when developing
and setting their priorities for National Park Authorities, in order to assist
the effective implementation of national policy.
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Key findings
The three National Park Authorities play a vital role in
managing the environment and encouraging visitors to
enjoy the outdoors
6

It is estimated that the three Welsh National Parks are visited by 12
million people each year. Annually, three quarters of the population of
Wales make a visit to a National Park benefiting from the great outdoors.
Recreation and tourism are important for both the local economy and for
people’s health and wellbeing. In addition, the National Park Authorities
also need to balance these requirements with their responsibilities for
the preservation of land, animals, and habitats. If there is a conflict
between these two purposes, greater weight is given to conservation than
recreation.

7

The Welsh Government’s ambition for the visitor economy is to ‘grow
tourism for the good of Wales’1. And the strategic remit letter2 issued by the
Welsh Government’s Minister for Environment, Energy and Rural Affairs in
March 2021 reaffirms the National Park Authorities’ key role in developing
sustainable tourism and outdoor recreation, but in a sustainable manner.
There is an expectation that each of the National Park Authorities will
engage with tourism providers to identify how they can contribute to
achieving the sustainability of the area3.

National Park Authorities in Wales have to balance
encouraging tourism with conserving the natural
environment but find this difficult to achieve
8

Through our work we know that the National Park Authorities
collectively possess many years’ experience of managing large numbers
of visitors. They employ a range of staff who engage with visitors on a
day-to-day basis, enhancing visitors’ experiences, and helping to promote
the importance of people enjoying but not adversely impacting the natural
environment.

1 Welcome to Wales: Priorities for the Visitor Economy 2020-2025.
2 From May 2022 the ‘remit letter’ has been changed to the ‘Strategic term of Government
letter’.
3 Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s Priorities for Areas of outstanding Natural
Beauty and National Parks, July 2018.
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9

All three Authorities recognised that COVID-19 and COP264 have brought
the nature crisis into sharp focus – National Parks are now visited more
than they ever have been in the past, but increased visitor numbers
damage the biodiversity and unique environments of National Parks.
The three National Park Authorities have two statutory purposes and
a statutory duty. The purposes and duty form the basis of all the work
undertaken by each Authority and are the starting point for the plans and
strategies they develop – Exhibit 2. Intrinsically, balancing the needs of
the two purposes is difficult and all National Park Authorities told us they
struggle with this.

Exhibit 2 – the Statutory Purposes and duty of Welsh National Park Authorities
Statutory
Purposes

• To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife
and cultural heritage of the National Park.
• To promote opportunities for public enjoyment and
understanding of the special qualities of the National
Park.

Statutory
Duty

• To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife
and cultural heritage of the National Park.

Source: 1995 Environment Act

10

Managing access, tourism and its impact can be a challenge for National
Park Authorities. Proportionally, they own little land within the National
Parks, and they do not directly control national or regional tourism and
destination management strategies. The delicate balance between the two
statutory purposes and duty of National Park Authorities5 was highlighted
when visitors flocked to the Parks in unprecedented numbers during their
re-opening in 2020.

11

Given this, each National Park Authority seeks to work in partnership and
collaborate with all those with a responsibility for the National Park area.
Each of the National Parks has established a Management Plan6 to help
coordinate their work to tackle the most critical issues over the next five
years. The Plans are a way of ensuring that the many organisations and
individuals who contribute to the National Park Authorities purposes of
conservation, enjoyment and understanding support the work of each
Authority.

4 COP26 was the 26th meeting of the Conference of Parties, where governments, NGOs,
trade unions, businesses, and everyone else with any interest in climate change came
together to review and negotiate global action. The event took place from 1-12 November
2021 in Glasgow.
5 Environment Act 1995
6 Under Section 66 of the Environment Act 1995, each National Park Authority is required to
prepare and publish a National Park Management Plan for their Park.
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Tourist businesses mostly value the work of the National
Park Authorities but do not think they have the balance
right between their two statutory purposes
12

Respondents to our survey of tourism businesses located within Welsh
National Parks told us that Authorities have some clear strengths. These
include conserving and protecting the natural environment; promoting the
‘national – Welsh’ role of Parks; and promoting activities and options when
visiting the National Park area such as walking routes. Tourism businesses
we surveyed were also positive about the work of the National Park
Authorities. For instance:
a 95% of those who responded to our survey agree or strongly agree that
a well-managed National Park is important to attracting tourists;
b 92% also agree or strongly agree that conserving and protecting
natural resources and tourism are compatible; and
c 72% think sustainable tourism is helping, or will help, their business.

13

However, our survey of tourism businesses also indicates there is room
for improvement in how National Park Authorities engage with the private
sector (Exhibit 3). Just 31% of businesses responding to our survey
stated that their local National Park Authority sought their views specifically
to help shape their strategy for sustainable tourism. Around a third of
businesses feel informed and involved in the work of the National Park and
have a good working relationship with their local National Park Authority.
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Exhibit 3: tourism businesses’ views on National Park Authorities’ approach
to sustainable tourism
Do you agree that your local National
Park Authority promotes sustainable
tourism effectively?
Do you feel generally informed and involved
in the work of the National Park Authority
and have a good working relationship?
Did the National Park Authority seek your
views specifically to help shape their
strategy for Sustainable Tourism?
Is your local National Park Authority
good at communicating the importance
of sustainable tourism to the public?
Is your local National Park Authority good
at explaining what your business can do
to help deliver sustainable tourism?
0%

20%

40%

60%

Positive
Negative
Don’t know
Source: Audit Wales Survey of Welsh Tourist Businesses, January 2022

14

In addition, roughly half of businesses do not think that their local National
Park Authority is good at explaining what businesses can do to help deliver
sustainable tourism. Only 43% agree or strongly agree that their local
National Park Authority promotes sustainable tourism effectively. Just 18%
believe that their local National Park Authority is good at communicating
the importance of sustainable tourism to the public. Finally, only 29% of
survey respondents agree that their local National Park Authority has the
balance right between protecting the natural environment and promoting
enjoyment of the National Park at this time. See Appendix 2 for further
information on our survey findings.
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Most tourist businesses seek to work sustainably and
recognise the value of sustainable tourism
15

As well as promoting sustainable tourism, it is important that businesses
also work in a sustainable way. Today’s tourists are more aware of their
actions and the environmental and social impacts they can have. So
they want to see more businesses actively doing something. Sustainable
practices will also save money overall. Our survey found that:
Over 80% of businesses we surveyed promote visitors’
understanding and awareness of the special qualities of
the National Park
Roughly 70% of businesses we surveyed promote local
culture and heritage – eg encouraging use of the Welsh
language
Over 80% of tourist businesses we surveyed seek to
reduce landfill waste and increase recycling
Just under 80% of tourist businesses we surveyed seek
to reduce energy use
Just under 60% of tourist businesses we surveyed seek
to reduce or conserve use of water
Just over 30% of tourist businesses we surveyed
generate their own green energy
82% of tourist businesses we surveyed hire mainly (50%)
local people (by local we mean people who live within 15
miles of the business)
60% of tourist businesses we surveyed source the
majority (75%) of their supplies from local producers (by
local we mean within 30 miles of the business)
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National Park Authorities do not have the resources or
powers to control or influence the number of people
who visit their areas, nor their behaviour and impact
16

Historically, National Park Authorities have not had a direct role in
promoting tourism and marketing their destinations. And proportionally,
they own little land. They are one of many players within their area that
has a role in tourism and protecting the environment. Many of the strategic
levers for sustainable tourism are vested in organisations and bodies who
do not always share the same vision or have the same responsibilities for
protecting the environment of the National Parks.

17

For instance, the funding and remit of National Park Authorities does
not cover the direct marketing of tourism within National Parks and only
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is a destination management
organisation (working alongside Brecon Beacons Tourism). Traditionally,
this involves greater emphasis on engagement with the business
community and this positive engagement is reflected in the views of
businesses in the Brecon Beacons (eg survey responses regarding
the levels of involvement and influence to promote sustainable tourism
– page 16). Both Pembrokeshire Coast and Eryri work with the local
bodies who lead on this agenda: Visit Pembrokeshire and Gwynedd
Council respectively. To be successful therefore, the three National Park
Authorities primarily focus on influencing what others do, but this is not
easy and often not straightforward.

18

After two years of lockdowns and restrictions, tourist businesses are
naturally keen to encourage visitors and benefit economically from an
increase in tourism. This can, however, stress local infrastructure and
create unintended problems of fly tipping, irresponsible car parking on
verges, increased risk of accidents, growing anti-social behaviour and a
negative impact on local communities in each of the National Parks.

19

All three National Parks highlighted ongoing and longstanding problems
with the local infrastructure in their areas, especially public transport,
car parking, integrated active travel routes and responding to anti-social
behaviour. Officers described some significant infrastructure improvements
needed to better manage the impact of visitors travelling by car, especially
around the most popular attractions within each National Park and during
the peak seasons.
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20

However, the Authorities have neither the power nor capacity to directly
control or solely deliver the significant infrastructure changes needed to
help achieve sustainable tourism. Many of the statutory responsibilities for
responding in these matters are, however, vested in partners, most notably
local authorities and/or the Police, or private landowners, and there is
often little that Authorities themselves can directly do.

21

However, other public bodies are often unable to respond effectively and
consistently due to resource and other pressures. Authority officers and
members we interviewed across the three National Parks told us that
issues are ‘falling in-between the cracks’ of the different agencies and are
not being effectively tackled. Yet, through the Environment Act 1995, it is
the three National Park Authorities that are charged with conserving and
enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National
Park, so doing nothing is not an option.

22

Our reports on sustainable tourism in all three National Park Authorities
in Wales emphasise the importance of each Authority communicating
responsible use of the Parks to the public. To be most effective, this
should be supported at a national level by the Welsh Government through
Visit Wales7 and the three National Park Authorities working together
collectively through National Parks Wales as a brand.

23

In addition, many private landowners focus as much, if not more, on
generating income rather than managing the impact of tourism on the local
environment. The limitations in the statutory responsibilities of National
Park Authorities means that these matters often go unchecked and
continue to cause problems particularly in local communities. With yearon-year growth in tourism it is clear that this problem will be exacerbated.

24

All three National Park Authorities told us that the Welsh Government’s
annual funding cycle does not allow for long-term planning of, and
investment into, infrastructure which supports sustainable tourism.
Equally, all three National Parks continue to source additional funding from
elsewhere and this is likely to grow yet further going forward.

7 Visit Wales is based within the Welsh Government and is responsible for the development
and promotion of the visitor economy in Wales.
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A way forward
25

Drawing on this set of reviews, it is clear that there are some common
and critical issues for the Welsh Government to consider when framing
future priorities for the three National Parks in Wales. With this in mind,
we believe that the Welsh Government needs to consider these findings in
setting its priorities for our National Park Authorities in the Strategic term of
Government letter.
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Appendices
Appendix 1 – Methodology
We undertook the review during the winter of 2021-22. Our methods included:
• consolidating our cumulative audit knowledge and experience;
• a survey of national park tourism businesses promoted via Visit Wales;
• reviewing data and key documents;
• interviewing officers and elected members in each National Park Authority;
• interviewing key officers in partner organisations including tourism officers
from Councils within each of the National Park areas; and
• keeping in regular contact with the land, nature and forestry division in the
Welsh Government.
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Appendix 2 – Tourist businesses survey – headline
findings
We undertook a survey of national park tourism businesses promoted via Visit
Wales and local National Park Authorities. Across Wales, 281 businesses
responded to our survey. Of these, 204 were located within, or operate mainly
within, the boundaries of a Welsh national park.
The data is presented at two levels: combined responses for all three national
parks; and responses to each specific national park (named).
While we received a total of 281 separate responses, not every question was
answered by every tourist business submitting a survey. This accounts for some
difference in the totals reported under each question. The number of responses
to each question is noted in the graphs below. The analysis is grouped into
three sections:
• businesses’ agreement with the principles of sustainable tourism;
• the effectiveness of National Park Authorities in promoting sustainable
tourism; and
• levels of involvement and influence to promote sustainable tourism.
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Businesses’ agreement with the principles of sustainable tourism
Do you agree that conserving and protecting natural resources and tourism are
compatible?
All (280)

Brecon Beacons (56)

Eryri (100)

Pembs Coast (40)
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Positive responses
Negative responses
Don’t know

Do you agree that a well-managed National Park is important to attracting
tourists?

All (280)

Eryri (100)

Brecon Beacons (56)

Pembs Coast (41)
0%

20%

40%

Positive responses
Negative responses
Don’t know
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Overall, do you think sustainable tourism is helping, or will help, your business?
All (280)

Pembs Coast (41)

Brecon Beacons (56)

Eryri (100)
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Positive responses
Negative responses
Don’t know

The effectiveness of National Park Authorities in promoting
sustainable tourism
Do you agree that your local National Park Authority promotes sustainable
tourism effectively?

All (205)

Brecon Beacons (56)

Eryri (100)

Pembs Coast (41)
0%

20%

40%

60%

Positive responses
Negative responses
Don’t know
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Developing sustainable tourism requires National Park Authorities to strike the
right balance between protecting the special qualities of the Park and promoting
the understanding and enjoyment of the National Park. Have they got this
balance right?
All (205)

Brecon Beacons (56)

Eryri (100)

Pembs Coast (41)
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Positive responses
Negative responses
Don’t know

Is your local National Park Authority good at communicating the importance of
sustainable tourism to the public?

All (276)

Brecon Beacons (56)

Eryri (98)

Pembs Coast (39)
0%

20%

40%

Positive responses
Negative responses
Don’t know
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Levels of involvement and influence to promote sustainable
tourism
Do you generally feel informed and involved in the work of the National Park
Authority and have a good working relationship?
All (166)

Brecon Beacons (44)

Eryri (84)

Pembs Coast (32)
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Positive responses
Negative responses
Don’t know

Is your local National Park Authority good at explaining what your business can
do to help deliver sustainable tourism?

All (279)

Brecon Beacons (56)

Eryri (100)

Pembs Coast (40)
0%

20%

40%

60%

Yes, always
Sometimes, but could be better
No, not at all
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Appendix 3 – Case study: Sustainable tourism in
Cairngorms National Park Authority
Cairngorms National Park Authority places great emphasis on boosting visitor
experiences in its National Park Partnership Plan 2017-20228 as part of a wider
drive towards promoting sustainable tourism. The Partnership Plan clearly sets
out the big challenges for the Authority in improving visitor experience:
• enhancing the quality of the Park as a tourism destination;
• increasing and broadening participation in outdoor recreation and physical
activity; and
• engaging more people across Scotland in making the most of the Cairngorms
National Park through learning and recreation.
Its Partnership Plan is underpinned by a Tourism Action Plan9 which supports
the delivery of its overall ambitions to promote sustainable tourism. The Action
Plan was developed by the Cairngorms Tourism Partnership (CTP) which
brings together the key organisations, including Destination Management
Organisations, wider public sector partners, businesses, and community groups.
Delivery is coordinated by CTP and overseen by CNPA.
The Action Plan has five key themes:
• leadership – recognising the importance of strong leadership through
effective partnerships in ensuring the delivery of sustainable tourism and a
growing visitor economy in the Cairngorms National Park.
• skills – the Action Plan recognises that people are at the heart of the
visitor economy and by increasing people’s knowledge and skills there is
a considerable opportunity to enhance the visitor experience. This theme
addresses the difficulties faced by tourism businesses with employment in
the sector often perceived as being poorly paid, unskilled, and short term.
Over its five-year cycle the Action Plan sought to promote skills through staff
training and support.
• enhancing its assets – the Action Plan recognises the importance of
conserving and improving the very things that make the environment and
biodiversity within the National Park unique and special, and links this to the
visitor experience.
• engaging and inspiring – over its life cycle the Action Plan sets out how the
Authority and its partners seek to develop the potential of the National Park
brand to attract visitors, encourage them to stay longer, to enjoy the Park
without damaging it and to invest in the area.

8 Cairngorms National Park Partnership Plan 2017-2022
9 Tourism Action Plan for the Cairngorms National Park 2017-2022
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• international – the Authority has identified the potential for international
visitors to be more likely to stay longer and spend more money than
domestic visitors, therefore, growing the visitor economy without necessarily
growing the visitor numbers and pressures. International markets are a key
component in the growth strategy for Scotland, and the Action Plan seeks to
strengthen linkages to National Parks.
Importantly, the Authority has prioritised activities against just four key goals.
These are clearly set out in the Action Plan and are well integrated demonstrate
the contribution to the achievement of wider ambitions in the National Park
Partnership Plan. The key goals are specific, measurable, achievable, realistic
and time-bound (SMART):
• over the period 2017-2022, visitor spend and visit duration will grow in
excess of the Scottish average;
• increase the economic impact of visitors to eastern and southern Cairngorms
from 21% to 25% of the total visitor economy;
• off-peak months will see stronger growth in visitor numbers than peak holiday
months, with 71% of visits in the core summer months of July and August;
and
• visitor satisfaction will further increase so CNP becomes a leading destination
for visitor experience and customer satisfaction.
Engaging and addressing tourism challenges head-on has seen Cairngorms
becoming one of only two national parks in the UK to be awarded the European
Charter for Sustainable Tourism Award10. The Charter is based on five principles
that should govern how tourism is developed and managed in protected
areas, by giving priority to protection; contributing to sustainable development;
engaging all stakeholders; planning sustainable tourism effectively, and
pursuing continuous improvement. Investing in this accreditation every five
years provides an accountability framework which helps to drive momentum in
key partnerships involved in promoting sustainable tourism.
Looking ahead, CNPA have just submitted their next National Park Partnership
Plan to Scottish Ministers and development of a new Tourism Action Plan is
underway for submission to Europarc later this year. Additionally, the Heritage
Horizons: Cairngorms 2030 project, currently in the development phase, has
ambitious plans for transformational change, putting the power to tackle the
climate and nature crises into the hands of those who live, visit or work in the
National Park. This project will act as a Destination Climate Action Plan, with
which CNPA has signed up to the Tourism Declares a Climate Emergency
initiative. Similarly, both CNPA and the Cairngorms Business Partnership
have also recently signed up to the Glasgow Declaration on Climate Action
in Tourism.

10 European Charter for Sustainable Tourism
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Item 11

For Information

Recommended decision:
For members to note the presentation from Audit Wales
1.

Audit Wales will deliver a verbal presentation on their Audit Action Plan.
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This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions.
Audit Wales is the non-statutory collective name for the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit
Office, which are separate legal entities each with their own legal functions. Audit Wales is not a legal entity
and itself does not have any functions.
No responsibility is taken by the Auditor General or the staff of Audit Wales in relation to any member,
director, officer or other employee in their individual capacity, or to any third party.
In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention is
drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000. The section
45 Code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public authorities, including
consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor General for Wales, Audit
Wales and, where applicable, the auditor acting on behalf of the Auditor General are relevant third parties.
Any enquiries regarding disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to Audit Wales at
infoofficer@audit.wales.
We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will not
lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd gohebu yn
Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.
[Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. This document is also available in Welsh.
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2022 Audit Plan

About this document
1

This document sets out the work I plan to undertake during 2022 to discharge my
statutory responsibilities as your external auditor and to fulfil my obligations under
the Code of Audit Practice.

My duties
2

I complete work each year to meet the following duties.

Audit of financial statements
3

Each year I audit Brecon Beacon’s National Park Authority’s (the Authority’s)
financial statements to make sure that public money is being properly accounted
for.

Value for money
4

The Authority has to put in place arrangements to get value for money for the
resources it uses, and I have to be satisfied that it has met this requirement.

Sustainable development principle
5

The Authority needs to comply with the sustainable development principle when
setting and taking steps to meet their well-being objectives. The Auditor General
must assess the extent to which they are doing this.

Impact of COVID-19
6

The COVID-19 pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on the United
Kingdom and the work of public sector organisations. While Wales is currently at
Coronavirus Alert Level 0, Audit Wales will continue to monitor the position and will
discuss the implications of any changes in the position with your officers.

Audit of financial statements
7

It is my responsibility to issue a certificate and report on the financial statements.
This includes:
•

an opinion on the on the ‘truth and fairness’ of the Authority’s financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2022; and

•

an assessment as to whether the Authority’s Narrative Report and Annual
Governance Statement is prepared in line with the CIPFA Code and relevant
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guidance and is consistent with the financial statements and with my
knowledge of the Authority.
8

In addition to my responsibilities for auditing the Authority’s financial statements, I
also have responsibility for responding to questions and objections about the
financial statements from local electors (see paragraphs 26 and 27). Additional
fees will be charged for this work if necessary.

9

I do not seek to obtain absolute assurance on the truth and fairness of the financial
statements and related notes but adopt a concept of materiality. My aim is to
identify material misstatements, that is, those that might result in a reader of the
financial statements being misled. The levels at which I judge such misstatements
to be material will be reported to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee prior to
completion of the audit.

10

Any misstatements below a trivial level (set at 5% of materiality) I judge as not
requiring consideration by those charged with governance and therefore will not
report them.

11

Thus far, there have been no limitations imposed on me in planning the scope of
this audit.

12

I will also report by exception on a number of matters which are set out in more
detail in our Statement of Responsibilities, along with further information about my
work.

Audit of financial statements risks
13

The following exhibit sets out the significant risks that I have currently identified for
the audit of your financial statements. My assessment of risk continues throughout
the audit.
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Exhibit 1: financial statement audit risks
This exhibit summarises the key financial statement audit risks identified at the planning
stage of the audit.

Audit risk

Proposed audit response

Significant risks

The risk of management override of
controls is present in all entities. Due to
the unpredictable way in which such
override could occur, it is viewed as a
significant risk [ISA 240.31-33].

I will:
• test the appropriateness of
journal entries and other
adjustments made in preparing
the financial statements;
• review accounting estimates for
biases;
• evaluate the rationale for any
significant transactions outside
the normal course of business;
and
• undertake any additional
procedures to address any
specific risks of management
override which are not addressed
by the mandatory work above.

Accounting for property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets
continues to be one of the most
challenging areas of the financial
statements.
In light of matters such the significant
inflationary increases during 2021-22,
and uncertainties over market values for
assets since the start of the pandemic,
there is the risk that the carrying value of
assets reported in the financial
statements may be materially different to
the current value of assets as at 31
March 2022.
This risk may be more prominent where
assets are valued on a rolling basis
across financial years and not at the
financial year-end.

I will review the Authority’s asset
valuation programme to establish
when individual groups of assets
were valued; and I will seek to
confirm that valuations carried out
earlier than as at 31 March 2022 are
not materially different to the current
value of assets as at the year-end.
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Audit risk

Proposed audit response

Significant risks

Since March 2022, the Authority has had
a high turnover of officers who had been
important to the Authority’s financial
management and reporting, and
governance. The extent of the recent
changes increases the inherent risk that
the financial statements could be
materially misstated and/or that the
governance statement does not comply
with guidance.
Regarding the replacement of the
Authority’s statutory responsible finance
officer (Section 151), since March 2022 I
have repeatedly sought confirmation of
the approval and formal appointment of a
Section 151 officer, but I have not
received a reply.

As part of my ongoing audit work and
engagement, I will continue to discuss
and assess this area with officers.

Last year, I reported eight
recommendations in respect of the
financial statements. The Authority’s
management accepted all of them and
provided agreed actions and dates for
implementation.
Any recommendations that management
has not addressed by the agreed dates
would represent a risk to the financial
statements.

I will review management’s actions
against each recommendation, which
will inform my assessment of the key
risks and what they mean for my
audit.

I judge some of the disclosures in the
financial statements, such as related
parties and the remuneration of senior
officers and councillors, to be material by
nature, with a far lower level of
materiality. These disclosures are
therefore inherently prone to material
misstatement.

I will enhance my examination of all
areas that I determine to be material
by nature, to ensure that they are
complete and accurate.
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Performance audit
14

In addition to my Audit of Financial Statements I also carry out a programme of
performance audit work to discharge my duties as Auditor General as set out in
paragraph 4 in relation to value for money and sustainable development.

15

In response to the pandemic, I adopted a flexible approach to my performance
audit work both in terms of topic coverage and methodology. This enabled me to
respond to the fast-moving external environment and provide more real-time
feedback in a range of formats.

16

For 2022-23, I intend to continue this approach to help enable my work to be
responsive and timely, and where possible to share learning more quickly

17

Given the high degree of commonality in the risks facing National Park Authorities I
also intend to deliver a thematic project examining risks common to all three.

18

During 2020-21, I consulted public bodies and other stakeholders on how I will
approach my duties in respect of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act
2015 from 2020-2025.

19

In March 2021, I wrote to the public bodies designated under the Act setting out my
intentions, which include:
•

carrying out specific examinations of how public bodies have set their wellbeing objectives; and

•

integrating my sustainable development principle examinations of steps to
meet well-being objectives with my national and local audit programmes.

20

My auditors are liaising with the Authority to agree the most appropriate time to
examine the setting of well-being objectives. The examination of steps to meet
well-being objectives will be conducted as part of work set out in this audit plan and
successive audit plans, leading up to my statutory report under the Act in 2025.

21

For 2022-23, my performance audit work at the Authority is set out below.

Exhibit 2: performance audit programme 2022-23
This exhibit summarises the performance audit programme for 2022-23

Performance audit programme

Brief description

National Park review

To be confirmed following recent the
Auditor General for Wales consultation.
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22

Performance audit programme

Brief description

Governance

Tracking delivery of past
recommendations of governance of the
change programme.

In March 2022, I published a consultation inviting views to inform my future audit
work programme for 2022-23 and beyond. In particular, it considers topics that may
be taken forward through my national value for money examinations and studies
and/or through local audit work across multiple NHS, central government and local
government bodies. As I develop and deliver my future work programme, I will be
putting into practice key themes in my new five-year strategy, namely:
•

the delivery of a strategic, dynamic, and high-quality audit programme;
supported by

•

a targeted and impactful approach to communicating and influencing.

23

The possible areas of focus for future audit work that I set out in the consultation
were framed in the context of three key themes from my Picture of Public Services
analysis in autumn 2021, namely: a changing world; the ongoing pandemic; and
transforming service delivery. I also invited views on possible areas for follow-up
work.

24

I will provide updates on the performance audit programme though my regular
updates to those charged with governance.

Statutory audit functions
25

26

In addition to the audit of the financial statements, I have statutory responsibilities
to receive questions and objections to the financial statements from local electors.
These responsibilities are set out in the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004:
•

Section 30 Inspection of documents and questions at audit; and

•

Section 31 Right to make objections at audit.

As this work is reactive, I have made no allowance in the fee exhibit below. If I do
receive questions or objections, I will discuss potential audit fees at the time.

Fee, audit team and timetable
27

My fees and planned timescales for completion of the audit are based on the
following assumptions:
•

the signed financial statements are provided to me in accordance with a
timescale to be agreed;
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•

the financial statements are prepared to the quality expected and have been
subject to a robust quality assurance review;

•

all supporting information is provided to me alongside the signed financial
statements;

•

if required, appropriate accommodation and facilities are provided to enable
my audit team to deliver the audit in an efficient manner;

•

all appropriate staff will be available during the audit;

•

you have all the necessary controls and checks in place to enable the
Responsible Financial Officer to provide all the assurances that I require in
the Letter of Representation addressed to me; and

•

Internal Audit’s planned programme of work is complete and management
has responded to issues that may have affected the financial statements; If I
do receive questions or objections, I will discuss potential audit fees at the
time.

Fee
28

As set out in my Fee Scheme 2022-23, my fee rates for 2022-23 have increased
by 3.7%, as a result of the need to continually invest in audit quality and in
response to increasing cost pressures. The previous increase to our fee rates was
in 2016. The estimated fee for 2022 is set out in Exhibit 3, alongside the previous
year’s actual fees. The estimated cost of this year’s audits is 15% lower than last
year’s actual cost.

Exhibit 3: audit fee
Audit area

Proposed fee (£)1

Actual fee last year2 (£)

33,194

35,195

21,777

29,325

54,971

64,547

Audit of financial statements3
Performance audit

work4

Total fee

29

Planning will be ongoing, and changes to my programme of audit work, and
therefore my fee, may be required if any key new risks emerge. I shall make no
changes without first discussing them with Authority.

1

Notes: The fees shown in this document are exclusive of VAT, which is not charged to
you.
2

The actual fee is £16,325 higher than my 2021 fee estimate.

3

Payable November 2021 to October 2022.

4

Payable April 2022 to March 2023.
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Audit team
30

The main members of my team, together with their contact details, are summarised
in Exhibit 4.

Exhibit 4: my audit team
This exhibit lists the members of the local audit team and their contact details.

31

Name

Role

Contact number

E-mail address

Anthony Veale

Engagement
Director

02920 320585

anthony.veale@audit.wales

Mark Jones

Audit Manager
(Financial Audit)

02920 320631

mark.jones@audit.wales

Nick Selwyn

Audit Manager
(Performance
Audit)

02920 320612

nick.selwyn@audit.wales

Harrie Clemens

Senior Auditor
(Financial Audit)

02920 320500

angharad.clemens@audit.wales

Philippa Dixon

Senior Auditor
(Performance
Audit)

02920 320628

philippa.dixon@audit.wales

I can confirm that team members are all independent of the Authority and its
officers and members.

Timetable
32

The key milestones for the work set out in this plan are shown in Exhibit 5.

33

The Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 provides electors with the right to ask questions
and to make objections to the Authority’s financial statements to the Auditor
General. The rights to ask questions and make objections at audit are linked to
electors’ rights to inspect the financial statements that are also set out in the 2004
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Act. I have not yet set a date for the exercise of electors’ rights. I expect to agree a
date with the Section 151 Officer soon.
Exhibit 5: audit timetable

Planned output

Work
undertaken

Report finalised

2022 Audit Plan

March and April
2022

May 2022

September 2022

October 2022

Audit of the financial statements:
• Audit of Financial Statements
Report
• Opinion on the financial
statements

Performance audit work:
• National park Review
• Governance

Timescales for individual projects will be
discussed with the Authority and detailed
within the specific project briefings
produced for each piece of work.

Annual Audit Summary

N/A

December 2022
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Agenda Item 12
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

21 July 2022

By

Chief Executive’s Office

Title of

Audit Wales: The Role of Audit

Report
Item 12

For Information

Recommended decision:
For members to note the presentation from Audit Wales
1.

Audit Wales will deliver a verbal presentation on the role of audit (both financial
and performance) for the benefit of new Member.
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Agenda Item 13
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

20 July 2022

By

Legal and Democratic Services

Title of

Appointment Members to Audit & Risk Committee

Report
Item 13

For Decision

Recommended decision:
To appoint three members to the Audit & Risk Committee
1.

Introduction
1.1. Standing orders require the Authority to elect the Chair, Deputy Chair, and
members of its committees. The Authority currently has vacancies for three
Welsh Government appointed members.
1.2. At the AGM on 1 July 2021 members elected the Chair and Deputy Chair
and three of members to the Audit and Risk Committee leaving a vacancy of
three members of that committee.

2.

Issues for consideration
2.1. In accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Audit and Risk
Committee as set out under the Scheme of Delegation, the Committee shall
consist of six members.
2.2. Members are asked to self-nominate to complete the vacancies.

3.

Equality And Diversity Implications
3.1. None

4.

Legal Implications
4.1. None other than set out in this report

5.

Financial implications
5.1. None
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Agenda Item 14
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

21 July 2022

By

Chief Executive

Title of

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority: Audit Wales Action

Report

Plan

Item 14

For Decision

Recommended decision: To approve the Brecon Beacons National Park
Authority - Audit Wales Action Plan, in response to recommendations made in
Audit Wales reports:

1.



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority – Delivery of the Change
Programme - issued February 2021



Progress in delivering Statutory Recommendations – Brecon Beacons
National Park Authority – issued March 2022

Background
1.1. Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has two outstanding statutory audit
recommendations from the Audit Wales report issued in February 2021.
1.2. A further report to assess our progress in delivering these recommendations
was issued in March 2022 and concluded that their implementation was
being hindered by significant governance issues and a lack of capacity and
recommended that BBNPA should urgently seek the assistance of Welsh
Ministers to address them.
1.3. The Authority agreed to this course of action and the Minister agreed to
provide support. I have since been working closely with Welsh Government
officials to define that support and there has been close coordination
between BBNPA, Welsh Government and Audit Wales to agree an
appropriate action plan.

2.

Latest position
2.1. The actions for Welsh Government have been agreed by the Minister. These
appear in the attached version of the action plan together with the actions we
will need to complete.
2.2. Good progress has been made so far with a number of actions however, it is
vitally important that momentum is maintained.
2.3. The plan presented for your approval includes the recommendation that
close monitoring of progress is delegated to the Audit and Risk Committee.
The plan is with Audit Wales for their agreement. They will also attend the
NPA meeting.
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3.

Consideration – Financial
3.1. Whilst there are no immediate financial considerations, NPA should note that
there will be financial implications arising from the need to address the
capacity issues within the organisation. (ref note 1 page 7 of the action plan).

4.

Legal and Governance
4.1. In February 2022 BBNPA adopted a new Scheme of Delegation and the
AGM on 1 July saw Members populating a new Committee Structure.

5.

Risk and policy
5.1. The action plan seeks to address a number of key risks to the Authority and
failure to implement it will severely impair our ability to both deliver our core
business and shape ourselves to deliver on an ambitious National Park
Management Plan which will come to NPA for adoption in December 2022.

6.

Next steps
6.1. If approved the Action Plan should be considered at the first Audit and Risk
Committee and an approach to closely monitoring the plan will need to be
agreed.
6.2. Part of the assistance from Welsh Government is the identification of an
expert to work with BBNPA to support delivery of the plan, they are likely to
be available from September.
6.3. Officers will continue to work on all aspects of the plan including those
around organisational capacity and resilience
6.4. Audit Wales will conduct a further review of progress with the statutory
recommendations with their report likely to be issued in the February / March
2022 timeframe.
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Brecon Beacons National Park Authority - Audit Wales Action Plan
In response to recommendations made in Audit Wales reports:


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority – Delivery of the Change Programme - issued February 2021



Progress in delivering Statutory Recommendations – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority – issued March 2022
Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Status

Vest scrutiny of
delivery of the Action
Plan in the Audit and
Scrutiny Committee

Has been regularly
monitored by Audit and
Scrutiny Committee and will
now be monitored by the
Audit and Risk Committee
under the new scheme of
delegation.

Ongoing
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Recommendation

Review and clarify
roles and
responsibilities of
members and
officers to ensure
standards for conduct
and required

Implement the new Scheme
of Delegation and
Committee Structure

Ongoing - New scheme
approved and beginning
to be implemented.
Committee structure
Ensure regular monitoring of commences from AGM
1 July’22.
how these are working
through pre meetings and

Welsh
Government
Assistance
Required
Ministerial agreement to
Welsh Government actions
in the 2022 plan
Welsh Government to
identify a suitable
consultant to work
alongside the Audit and
Risk Committee and who
can work with BBNPA to
address the key issues

Milestones

2022 Plan to be agreed by all by
end July 2022. Monitoring by
Audit and Risk Committee
quarterly and in detail by the
Audit and Risk Committee
Working Group (to be set up
following the AGM on 1 July).
CEO to develop a consultancy
specification by 22 July 2022
Consultant in place by September
2022
AGM consideration 1 July
Monitoring by Audit and Risk
Committee Quarterly

Recommendation

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

behaviour are clear
and unambiguous,
including what to do if
things are not
working;

structured lessons learned /
meeting reflection

Status

Welsh
Government
Assistance
Required

Milestones
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Review key documents –
Member/officer protocols,
code of conduct, standing
orders etc

Scheme of Delegation
and committee structure
already reviewed.

Remaining key documents to be
reviewed by AGM 2023

CEO to review the
Monitoring Officer / solicitor
role with a view to making
the role a permanent part of
the establishment
Amendment of terms and
conditions of Welsh
Government appointed
members

Paper being prepared
by CEO for decision by
BBNPA.

To be presented for agreement
by BBNPA on 29 July 2022

Completed May 2022

Amendment of terms and
conditions of Welsh
Government appointed
members

Complete

BBNPA Chair to be part of
the recruitment process for
the new Welsh
Government Members.

Autumn 2022

Financial support to
BBNPA to run outreach
events for new members.

September- December 2022

Recommendation

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Status

Support for local authority
appointments
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Develops a
programme of
training and support
to ensure all
members and
officers understand
their responsibilities
and their expected
behaviours;

Induction programme for
Members to ensure these
aspects are appropriately
covered.
Regular review and lessons
learned processes to be
embedded.
Senior officers to be part of
induction process and
ongoing training so mutually
understood standards are
set.
Authority to ensure that
officers understand the
scheme of delegation in
respect of responsibilities
and that behavioural
standards are embedded in
staff appraisal systems.

Welsh
Government
Assistance
Required
Advice to local authorities
on appointment members

Initial induction
programme for new
Members has
completed. Mop up
sessions being arranged
and evaluation also in
progress.
Induction programme
includes attendance of
key officers.
Initial conversation held
with Academi Wales re
longer term support.
WLGA training modules
identified as possible
option 9 June 2022

Assistance to identify
suitable training for
members. This would need
to cover key aspects such
as respect, equality and
diversity, micro behaviours
bullying and harassment.

Milestones

September 2022
Complete
Implement induction programme
from June 2022 with senior team
involvement - Complete
Review and lessons learnt of
induction programme by end July
Staff training on scheme of
delegation by December 2022
Review Scheme of Delegation by
end 2022

Recommendation

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Status

Ensures that all key
policies for standards
of conduct and
required behaviours
are strictly adhered
to;

Support has been in place
for appropriate action being
taken when required
standards are not met.

Closer involvement of
Chair of Standards
Committee in other
Authority meetings.
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Review how changes
to members and
officers
responsibilities and
roles are working in
practice within the
next 12 months
Ensuring all relevant
papers to Authority
meetings are written
in plain, simple and

Emphasis on standards and
conduct as part of induction
of new Members
Ensure new members are
provided with relevant
policies and understand the
NPA procedures for raising
concerns about conduct and
behaviour
Process of regular review
and lessons learned.
Build into internal audit
programme for review.

Authority approach to
papers to be reviewed.

Authority has tackled
and sought assistance
with Members whose
behaviours were not
meeting required
standards.

Welsh
Government
Assistance
Required
Amendment to terms and
conditions for Welsh
Government members to
emphasise zero tolerance
approach to bullying,
harassment, appropriate
language/behaviour

Milestones

Terms and conditions for new
WG members - complete
For new local authority members
from induction in June 2022
For new Welsh Government
members from appointment end
2022

To commence from
BBNPA EGM 1 July

Review of implementation and
understanding of the scheme of
delegation by December 2022 (as
part of Audit Wales follow up).

Included as advisory
review in BBNPA
Internal Audit Plan
2022/23
Aim is to embed this
during 2022

Internal audit by March 23

Complete review by end 2022.
Design new approach by end
October 2022

Recommendation

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

clear language that
explains technical
terms, avoids ‘jargon’
and clearly sets out
the rationale for
recommendations

New Executive Board to
operate as a clearing step
for any papers going to the
Authority.
Feedback to be sought on
papers as a matter of
routine.

Designing feedback
process over summer
22 to include staff, EB
and members.
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Actions agreed with Audit
Wales
Given the changes in
Membership at the Authority
CEO BBNPA to develop a
refreshed action plan to
address both the statutory
recommendations from Feb
21 and the issues raised in
Mar 22 AW reports.

Status

Recommendation
Recommend that the
Authority urgently
requests the
assistance of Welsh
Ministers to address
the significant
governance
problems.

Status

Welsh
Government
Assistance
Required

Milestones

Implement EB clearance process
by end October 2022.

Ongoing CEO wrote to Minister
for Climate Change on
15 March. Minister
offered assistance 20
April BBNPA is now
working closely with
both Welsh Government
and Audit Wales.

Implement feedback loop by end
October 2022.

Welsh Government
Assistance Required
Respond to request to
provide assistance

Milestones

Respond to request for
termination of
appointments

WG assigned an official to work
with BBNPA and AW to support
delivery of the plan – April 2022

Support to develop an
appropriate plan and
ensure that it is acceptable
to Ministers.

Ministerial agreement to assist –
April 2022

WG action on request to
terminate appointments – March July 2022
BBNPA Executive Board
reviewed draft plan 19 May 22

Recommendation

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Status

Discussion of success
criteria has been
initiated. Likely to be
based around Audit
Wales follow up review
before end March 2023.
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Seek assistance that
enables clarification
of the roles and
expectations of all
Members and
corresponding help in
addressing the
development and
support needs of
Welsh Governmentappointed members

Welsh Government
Assistance Required
WG assistance to define
some success criteria to
signal completion of the
plan from a BBNPA / AW /
WG perspective

Draft plan 2 shared WG 7 June

Complete plan and agree with
Authority/ WG/ AW - July 2022

Welsh Government
amended terms and
conditions for newly
appointed WG members

Recruit new WG members

WG recruitment of 3 new
members and a reserve list
WG to consider relevant
points arising from the
review of the induction
programme

Review and evaluation of
new induction programme

BBNPA CEO share draft plan 1
with WG and AW 20 May 22

Draft plan 3 to WG/AW 14 June

Amendment of terms and
conditions for new WG
appointed members

New induction programme
for new members

Milestones

Define and agree success criteria
- July 2022
Complete

September – December 2022
New induction programme rolled
out from June 2022
Review and evaluation of new
induction programme by end July.

Recommendation

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Status

Member appraisal and
assessment of
recommendations for an
extension of term to be
reviewed.
Embed the new Scheme of
Delegation and NPA
Committee Structure as a
foundation of good
governance in the Authority
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Capacity

Progress with this plan to be
regularly communicated to
staff by CEO and senior
team.
BBNPA Executive Board to
develop a plan to address
capacity issues1

Welsh Government
Assistance Required

Milestones

October 2022

Welsh Government to
May - December 2022
assist with consultancy
support to the new Audit
and Risk Committee for c.6
months to work with
Members and the
executive to support this
action.

BBNPA team are
currently working to
identify capacity gaps.
New areas are coming
to light

For discussion.
Welsh Government to work
with BBNPA to consider
what support could be
provided to address
capacity gaps. The work is

Recruitment and induction of new
senior team members – June
2022
Identification of capacity gaps –
ongoing work likely to extend

1 BBNPA capacity issues are wide and significant, from a need to urgently address our accommodation needs, an approach to how we to manage our sites – ie in terms of
the site opportunities, commercial strategy development and gaps in the organisation around business development, ability to engage with stakeholders, in particular the
agricultural community, ability to work in partnership around busy places and exploring possibilities to address our corporate services resilience and capability issues.
BBNPA faces a number of capacity challenges related to its relative administrative complexity vs the other WNPs and this also needs to be surfaced and considered.

Recommendation

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Status
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Welsh Government
Assistance Required
CEO and new
likely to extend beyond the
management team (May terms of the action plan.
2022) in place, S151
officer now in post,
options being explored
for HR support

Milestones

Monitoring officer
contract extended
pending paper on longer
term to NPA

Paper to NPA on extension of
MO post scheduled for 29 July
2022

beyond the terms of the Action
Plan

Permanency of MP post
confirmed by end July.
Agreed that diversification of BBNPA to initiate an
income is a key element of
income diversification
building capacity in the
advisory group and
organisation
Develop a commercial
strategy

Income diversification advisory
group to be established by end
October 2022.
Commercial strategy by March
2023
Set up of charitable trust to be
explored by end Dec 2022.

Staff to be regularly
engaged around the status
of the plan.

Regular programme of
internal comms
designed.

Recommendation

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Status

Welsh Government
Assistance Required

Wellbeing strategy
placed at the heart of
the business plan.
Whilst a separate Audit
Action Plan to address the
recommendations from the
Sustainable Tourism Audit
relating to capacity will also
be picked up in this plan:

Delivery of the business plan by
March 2023
To discuss with BBNPA.2

Presentation of the audit report
by AW to NPA on 29 July 2022
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Re-build tourism
staff capacity R2 We
recommend that the
Authority: • review
current tourism staff
capacity in line with
the aspirations of
Future Beacons, its
National Park
Management Plan; •
re-build tourism and
staff capacity to allow
delivery of the goals
of Future Beacons;
and • consider the
need for additional
staff capacity in
appropriate
specialisms eg
communications and
data analysis staff.

Milestones

2

Eg WG to be sighted on some of the ambition eg partnership with Black Mountains College, potential developments of the GeoPark etc.

Annex A – completed actions
Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Develop and agree
an action plan with
clear milestones for
delivering the Change
Programme;

Agreed change programme Closed
no longer appropriate for the
authority. From the Mar ’22
AW report ‘the change
programme noted in the
Auditor General’s report of
February 2021, which the
Authority has rightly moved
on from’ 3
Monthly meetings in place.
Closed
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Recommendation

Regularly monitor the
implementation of the
action plan (at least
monthly) to ensure
actions are
progressed and the
Change Programme
concluded;
Reviewing the role of
the Park Policy
Forum, how it works
in practice and in
relation to the
constitution and the
proper decision
3

Agreed new scheme of
delegation.

March 22 report page 7 section 11

Status

Closed?
Policy Forum is not a
formal part of the new
committee structure.
Fora and working
groups are now formed
at the discretion of the

Welsh
Government
Assistance
Required
None

Milestones

Agreed Welsh Government
presence at monitoring
meetings with Audit Wales
and that BBNPA / AW /WG
will work together to a
single plan.
CEO will stand up groupings as
required. Likely to continue a
regular more informal
engagement with Members and
officers on emerging issues and
policy

Recommendation

making of the
executive (Authority);
Address poor morale
amongst staff by
ensuring officers
have sufficient line
manager and wider
organisational
support.

Actions agreed with Audit
Wales

Wrap work on addressing
poor morale into follow up to
March ’22 report.

Status

CEO and chaired as
appropriate.
Closed

Welsh
Government
Assistance
Required
None

Milestones
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Agenda Item 15
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

20 July 2022

By

Legal and Democratic Services

Title of

Appointment of a Presiding Member

Report
Item 15

For Decision

Recommended decision:
(1) For members to consider whether they wish to appoint a Presiding Officer
until the next Authority AGM
(2) If members do wish to appoint, then to self-nominate at the meeting
1

Introduction
1.1 Standing Orders provide at an AGM of the Authority, Members must
consider the appointment of a presiding Member if the Chair and Deputy
Chair are absent.
1.2 At the Authority meeting of 1 July 2022 members decided to adjourn the
consideration of this matter to enable members other Authority commitments
to be known.

2

Issues for consideration
2.1 Where the Chair is absent from Authority business, or at any meeting of the
Authority or its Committees, the Deputy Chair would preside. Where the
Deputy Chair is also absent, Members have the power to nominate and
appoint a Chair for that meeting.
2.2 Members interested in the role should self-nominate at the meeting.

3

Equality And Diversity Implications
3.1 None

4

Legal Implications
4.1 None other than set out in this report

5

Financial implications
5.1 None
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Agenda Item 16
Report to

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Date

22 July 2022

By

Democratic Services

Title of

New Committee Dates 2022

Report
Item 16

For Decision

Recommended decision:
To approve the new committee dates for 2022 for publication.
1.

Background
1.1. The annual committee timetable for 2022 was approved by the committee at
the 24 September 2021 National Park Authority meeting.
1.2. The two new committees (Finance & Performance and Audit & Risk) that
have replaced the Audit & Scrutiny Committee are not included in this
timetable.

2.

Proposal
2.1. Taking into consideration the timetables of the Local Authorities that sit
within the park, and the needs of the Authority, it is recommended that the
Authority approve the dates given in the appendix.

3.

Implications
3.1. Agreeing these dates will enable Democratic Services to set up all meetings
on Modern.gov so that Members and the public can see all meetings for the
remainder of the year.

4.

Risk
4.1. Not providing a clear advance programme of meetings could lead to low
attendance.

5.

Conclusion
5.1. Members are asked to approve the dates provided for publication.
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Appendix One: New Committee Meeting Dates 2022

Committee

Date

Finance & Performance

10am, 20 September 2022

Audit & Risk

10am, 23 September 2022

Finance & Performance

10am, 15 November 2022

Audit & Risk

10am, 18 November 2022
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